
ASSOCIATED ESTATES REALTY CORP
Form 10-Q
May 02, 2003

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-Q

[ x ] QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15 (d) OF THE

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2003

OR

[ ] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15 (d) OF THE

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from __________ to __________

Commission File Number 1-12486

Edgar Filing: ASSOCIATED ESTATES REALTY CORP - Form 10-Q

1



Associated Estates Realty Corporation
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Ohio 34-1747603

(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer

incorporation or organization) Identification Number)

5025 Swetland Court, Richmond Hts., Ohio 44143-1467

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code (216) 261-5000

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by

Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding

12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required

to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such

filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes [ x ] No [ ]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer

as identified in Rule 12B-2 of the Act. Yes [ x ] No [ ]

Number of shares outstanding as of April 30, 2003: 19,462,439 shares

ASSOCIATED ESTATES REALTY CORPORATION

Edgar Filing: ASSOCIATED ESTATES REALTY CORP - Form 10-Q

2



INDEX

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION Page

ITEM 1 Condensed Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of

March 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 3

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three

month periods ended March 31, 2003 and 2002 4

Consolidated Statement of Shareholders' Equity for the three 5

month period ended March 31, 2003

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the three

month periods ended March 31, 2003 and 2002 6

Notes to Financial Statements 7

ITEM 2 Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 17

Condition and Results of Operations

ITEM 3 Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk 22

ITEM 4 Controls and Procedures 23

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1 Legal Proceedings 24

ITEM 2 Changes in Securities 24

ITEM 3 Defaults Upon Senior Securities 24

ITEM 4 Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 24

ITEM 5 Other Information 24

ITEM 6 Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K 25

SIGNATURES 28

Index

ASSOCIATED ESTATES REALTY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(UNAUDITED)

March 31, December 31,
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2003 2002
(In thousands, except share amounts)

ASSETS
Real estate assets

Land $ 90,239 $ 90,240

Buildings and improvements 789,559 787,052

Furniture and fixtures 33,426 33,248

913,224 910,540

Less: accumulated depreciation (241,524) (233,350)

671,700 677,190

Construction in progress 4,475 5,868

Real estate, net 676,175 683,058

Cash and cash equivalents 2,087 900

Restricted cash 12,358 13,326

Accounts and notes receivable

Rents 581 904

Affiliates and joint ventures 6,063 6,013

Other 2,263 3,660

Investments in joint ventures, net 11,259 11,589

Goodwill 1,725 1,725

Intangible and other assets, net 12,590 14,128

$ 725,101 $ 735,303

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Secured debt $ 542,707 $ 540,393

Unsecured debt 105 105

Total indebtedness 542,812 540,498

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 21,183 25,325

Dividends payable - 3,310

Resident security deposits 4,129 4,054

Funds held on behalf of managed properties

Affiliates and joint ventures 4,226 3,648

Other 1,641 1,785

Accrued interest 2,614 2,846

Commitments and contingencies (Note 10) - -

Operating partnership minority interest 2,972 2,972

Total liabilities 579,577 584,438

Shareholders' equity

Preferred shares, Class A cumulative, without par value;

3,000,000 authorized; 225,000 issued and outstanding 56,250 56,250

Common shares, without par value, $.10 stated value; 50,000,000

authorized; 22,995,763 issued and 19,462,439 and 19,473,576 out-

standing at March 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively 2,300 2,300

Paid-in capital 279,095 279,039

Accumulated distributions in excess of accumulated net income (160,151) (154,798)

Less: Treasury shares, at cost, 3,533,324 and 3,522,187 shares

at March 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively (31,970) (31,926)

Total shareholders' equity 145,524 150,865

$ 725,101 $ 735,303
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The accompanying notes are an integral part

of these financial statements

Index

ASSOCIATED ESTATES REALTY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(UNAUDITED)

For the three months ended

March 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2003 2002

Revenues

Rental $ 33,378 $ 32,960

Property management fees and reimbursements 3,091 5,351

Asset management fees 436 758

Painting services 341 294

Other 891 775

Total revenues 38,137 40,138

Expenses

Property operating and maintenance 17,801 15,211

Depreciation and amortization 8,693 8,435

Direct property management and service companies expenses 3,263 5,310

Painting services 445 366

General and administrative 1,512 1,983

Interest expense 10,029 9,955

Total expenses 41,743 41,260

(Loss) income before gain on disposition of properties, equity in net loss

of joint ventures, minority interest and income from discontinued operations (3,606) (1,122)

Gain on disposition of properties - 255

Equity in net loss of joint ventures (354) (242)

Minority interest in operating partnership (22) (116)

(Loss) income before income from discontinued operations (3,982) (1,225)

Income from discontinued operations:

Operating income - 59

Gain on disposition of properties - -
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Income from discontinued operations - 59

Net (loss) income (3,982) (1,166)

Preferred share dividends (1,371) (1,371)

Net (loss) income applicable to common shares $ (5,353) $ (2,537)

Earnings per common share - basic:
(Loss) income applicable to common shares before income from discontinued

operations $ (.28) $ (.13)

Income from discontinued operations - -

Net (loss) income applicable to common shares $ (.28) $ (.13)

Earnings per common share - diluted:
(Loss) income applicable to common shares before income from discontinued

operations $ (.28) $ (.13)

Income from discontinued operations - -

Net (loss) income applicable to common shares $ (.28) $ (.13)

Dividends declared per common share $ - $ .25

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic 19,382 19,438

- diluted 19,382 19,438

The accompanying notes are an integral part

of these financial statements

Index

ASSOCIATED ESTATES REALTY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

(UNAUDITED)

Accumulated

Class A Distributions

Cumulative Common Total Paid-in Capital In Excess Of Treasury

Preferred Shares Paid-In Unearned Accumulated Shares

(In thousands, except share amounts) Total Shares (at $.10 stated value) Capital Compensation

Net Income

(at cost)

Balance, December 31, 2002$ 150,865$ 56,250$ 2,300$ 279,481$ (442)$ (154,798)$ (31,926) Comprehensive income:------- Net (loss) income (3,982) - - - -
(3,982) - Total comprehensive income(3,982)----(3,982)-Amortization of unearned compensation68---68--Forfeiture of 3,769 restricted common
shares---(5)30-(25)Issuance of 3,770 restricted common shares7--(23)(12)-42Purchase of 11,570 treasury shares(65)-----(65)Issuance of 432 treasury shares 2 - -
(2) - - 4Common share dividends declared-------Preferred share dividends declared (1,371) - - - - (1,371) -Balance, March 31, 2003$ 145,524$ 56,250$ 2,300$

279,451$ (356)$ (160,151)$ (31,970)
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The accompanying notes are an integral part

of these financial statements

Index

ASSOCIATED ESTATES REALTY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE THREE MONTH PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31,

(UNAUDITED)

2003 2002
(In thousands)

Cash flow from operating activities:

Net (loss) income $ (3,982) $ (1,166)

Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 8,693 8,569

Loss on fixed asset replacements write-off 64 39

Minority interest in operating partnership 22 116

Gain on disposition of properties - (255)

Equity in net loss of joint ventures 354 267

Capitalized costs on investment in joint ventures (35) (25)

Earnings distributed from joint ventures 10 122

Net change in assets and liabilities:

- Accounts and notes receivable 1,720 416

- Accounts and notes receivable of affiliates and joint ventures (50) (647)

- Accounts payable and accrued expenses (4,085) (2,880)

- Other operating assets and liabilities 1,301 132

- Restricted cash 968 942

- Funds held for non-owned managed properties (144) (667)

- Funds held for non-owned managed properties of affiliates

and joint ventures 578 859

Total adjustments 9,396 6,988

Net cash flow provided by operations 5,414 5,822

Cash flow from investing activities:

Real estate and fixed asset additions acquired or developed (1,795) (2,444)

Net proceeds received from sale of properties - 3,791

Net cash flow (used for) provided by investing activities (1,795) 1,347

Cash flow from financing activities:

Principal payments on secured debt (1,686) (12,462)

Proceeds from secured debt - 11,089

Line of credit borrowings 12,900 3,000
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Line of credit repayments (8,900) (3,500)

Common share dividends paid (3,310) (4,855)

Preferred share dividends paid (1,371) (1,371)

(Purchase) issue of treasury shares - net (65) 441

Net cash flow used for financing activities (2,432) (7,658)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,187 (489)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 900 3,164

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 2,087 $ 2,675

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Dividends declared but not paid $ - $ 4,866

Cash paid for interest (excluding capitalized interest) 9,969 9,819

The accompanying notes are an integral part

of these financial statements

Index

ASSOCIATED ESTATES REALTY CORPORATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

UNAUDITED

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business

Associated Estates Realty Corporation (the "Company") is a self-administered and self-managed real estate investment trust
("REIT") which specializes in multifamily property management, advisory, development, acquisition, disposition, operation and
ownership activities. The Company and its affiliates receive certain property and asset management fees, acquisition, disposition
and incentive fees, loan origination and consulting fees, and mortgage servicing fees. MIG II Realty Advisors, Inc. ("MIG"), an
affiliate of the Company, is a registered investment advisor and serves as a real estate advisor to large pension funds. The
Company owns four taxable REIT subsidiaries which provide management and other services for the Company and third parties,
collectively Service Companies.
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The Company owns or manages 109 apartment communities in twelve states consisting of 25,222 units. The Company owns and
holds ownership interests, either directly or through subsidiaries, in 78 of those apartment communities containing 18,277 units in
10 states. Thirteen of those owned or partially owned apartment communities, consisting of 1,354 units, are affordable housing
communities. The Company has under construction and lease-up one joint venture apartment community consisting of 288 units.
The Company or one of its subsidiaries also manages or serves as asset manger for 30 communities, consisting of 6,861 units and
five commercial properties containing in excess of 980,000 square feet, which are owned by large pension funds, non profit
organizations or affiliated third party owners.

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying unaudited financial statements have been prepared by the Company's management in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") for interim financial information and applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for
complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting only of normal and recurring adjustments)
considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. The reported results of operations are not necessarily indicative
of the results that may be expected for the full year. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited
financial statements and accompanying notes in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002.

Stock Based Employee Compensation

The Company uses the intrinsic value method in accordance with the Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 ("APB No. 25") to account
for stock-based employee compensation arrangements. Under this method, the Company does not recognize compensation cost for stock options
when the option exercise price equals or exceeds the market value on the date of the grant. Restricted stock grants are recorded initially as a
reduction to shareholders equity and recognized as compensation expense over the vesting periods based upon the market value on the date of
the grant. The amount of compensation recorded as a reduction to shareholders' equity related to restricted stock grants was $356,000 and
$442,000 at March 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively. If the fair value method had been applied to the stock option grants, the fair
values of the options granted at the grant dates would be recognized as compensation expense over the vesting periods, and the Company's net
income and earnings per share at March 31, 2003 and 2002 would have been as follows:

(In thousands, except per share data) 2003 2002

Net (loss) income $ (3,982) $ (1,166)

Total stock compensation cost recognized 68 106

Total stock compensation cost had SFAS 123 been adopted (97) (180)

Proforma net (loss) income had SFAS 123 been adopted $ (4,011) $ (1,240)

Net (loss) income applicable to common shares:

Edgar Filing: ASSOCIATED ESTATES REALTY CORP - Form 10-Q

9



Net (loss) income as reported $ (5,353) $ (2,537)

Total stock compensation cost recognized 68 106

Total stock compensation cost had SFAS 123 been adopted (97) (180)

Pro forma net (loss) income had SFAS 123 been adopted $ (5,382) $ (2,611)

(Loss) income per common share - Basic

Net (loss) income as reported $ (.28) $ (.13)

Total stock compensation cost recognized .01 .01

Total stock compensation cost had SFAS 123 been adopted (.01) (.01)

Pro forma net (loss) income had SFAS 123 been adopted $ (.28) $ (.13)

(Loss) income per common share - Diluted

Net (loss) income as reported $ (.28) $ (.13)

Total stock compensation cost recognized .01 .01

Total stock compensation cost had SFAS 123 been adopted (.01) (.01)

Pro forma net (loss) income had SFAS 123 been adopted $ (.28) $ (.13)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145 "Rescission of FAS Nos. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of SFAS No. 13, and Technical
Corrections." This Statement rescinds SFAS No. 4, "Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt", and an amendment of that
Statement, SFAS No. 64, "Extinguishments of Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking-Fund Requirements." This Statement amends SFAS No. 13,
"Accounting for Leases." This Statement also amends other existing authoritative pronouncements to make various technical corrections, clarify
meanings or describe their applicability under changed conditions. The Company has adopted this Statement effective January 1, 2003 and will
no longer record gains or losses from the early extinguishment of debt as extraordinary items but will record them as a component of the
Company's continuing operations. The Company will also reclassify previously reported items to present them on the same basis, where
applicable.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45 "Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including
Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others." This Interpretation elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its financial
statements about its obligations under certain guarantees it has issued. It also clarifies that a guarantor is required to recognize, at the inception
of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaking in issuing the guarantee. The disclosure requirements of this
Interpretation are effective for financial statements of periods ending after December 15, 2002. The initial recognition and initial measurement
provisions of this interpretation are applicable on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The Company
has adopted the recognition provisions of this Interpretation effective January 1, 2003.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148 "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure - an amendment of
FAS 123". This Statement amends FASB No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation" to provide alternative methods of transition for
a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, this Statement amends the
disclosure requirements of Statement 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. The Company has adopted this
Statement effective January 1, 2003.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46 "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities." This Interpretation of Accounting
Research Bulletin No. 51 "Consolidated Financial Statements" addresses consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest entities in

Edgar Filing: ASSOCIATED ESTATES REALTY CORP - Form 10-Q

10



which the equity investment at risk is not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support
from other parties or in which the equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest. This Interpretation requires a
variable interest entity to be consolidated by a company if that company is subject to a majority of the risk of loss from the variable interest
entity's activities or entitled to receive a majority of the entity's residual returns or both. The Interpretation also requires disclosures about
variable interest entities that the company is not required to consolidate, but in which it has a significant variable interest. The consolidation
requirements of this Interpretation apply immediately to variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003 and in the first fiscal year or
interim period beginning after June 15, 2003 to existing variable interest entities. The Company is in the process of evaluating all of its joint
venture relationships in order to determine whether the entities are variable interest entities and whether the Company is considered to be the
primary beneficiary or whether it holds a significant variable interest. The Company has several joint venture arrangements where it is possible
that they will be determined to be variable interest entities where the Company is considered to be a primary beneficiary or holds a significant
variable interest. It is possible that the Company will be required to consolidate certain of these entities where the Company is the primary
beneficiary or may make additional disclosures related to its involvement with the entity.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2002 financial statements to conform to the 2003 presentation.

2. DEVELOPMENT OF MULTIFAMILY PROPERTIES

Construction in progress, including the cost of land, for the development of multifamily properties was $4.5 million and $5.9 million at March
31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively. The Company capitalizes interest costs on funds used in construction, real estate taxes and
insurance from the commencement of development activity through the time the property is available for leasing. Capitalized interest, real estate
taxes and insurance aggregated approximately $22,000 and $364,000 during the three month periods ended March 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

3. SALE OF PROPERTIES

On January 18, 2002, the Company completed the sale of Muirwood Village at London located in Central Ohio. The buyer purchased the
property for net cash proceeds of $3.8 million which resulted in the Company recording a gain of $255,000. Since this property was held for sale
as of December 31, 2001, the financial results are excluded from the discontinued operations presentation.

The Company sold four additional properties during 2002. The results of operations of these properties for the periods presented have been
included in "Income from discontinued operations". Interest expense included in "Income from discontinued operations" is limited to interest on
debt that is to be assumed by the buyer or that is required to be repaid as a result of the sale of an asset included in discontinued operations. No
allocation of interest expense to discontinued operations has been made for corporate debt that is not directly attributable to, or related to, other
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operations of the Company. The following chart summarizes the "Income from discontinued operations" for the quarter ended March 31, 2002.

2002
(In thousands)

Total property revenues $ 893

Total revenues 893

Property operating and maintenance expense (507)

Real estate asset depreciation and amortization (135)

Interest expense (192)

Total expenses (834)

Operating income 59

Gain on disposition of properties -

Income from discontinued operations $ 59

4. DEBT

Conventional

On February 1, 2002, the Company completed the refinancing of $10.9 million of maturing debt. The new loan requires monthly principal and
interest payments through the maturity date of January 1, 2005. The interest rate is equal to the prime rate or under certain conditions at a rate of
LIBOR plus 2.0%. The Company is currently paying interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 2.0% (3.30% at March 31, 2003).

Lines of Credit

On March 31, 2003, $4.0 million was outstanding under a $20.0 million secured line of credit. Borrowings under this line of credit are currently
restricted to an amount not to exceed $12.6 million and bear interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 1.5% or approximately 2.80% at March 31, 2003.
At December 31, 2002, there were no borrowings outstanding under this line of credit. This line matures in July 2003. Additionally, there were
no borrowings outstanding under the $14.0 million line of credit at March 31, 2003 or December 31, 2002. This credit facility may also be
utilized for derivative and letter of credit transactions; however, the transactions reduce the amount of borrowings otherwise available under the
line of credit. As of March 31, 2003, letters of credit totaling $4.2 million (see Note 11 for further information) and a $1.6 million credit risk
sublimit relative to derivative transactions limit the amount available under this line of credit to $8.2 million. Borrowings under this line of credit
bear interest at either the prime rate or LIBOR plus 2.0%, or approximately 3.30% at March 31, 2003, at the Borrower's option. This line
matures December 31, 2003.
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5. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In June 1998, the Company merged with MIG Realty Advisors, Inc. and, as a result, recorded goodwill and an intangible asset subject to
amortization. The intangible asset, which is the only intangible asset currently recorded on the Company's books, represents asset advisory and
property management contracts. The asset advisory and property management contracts are attributed to properties owned by pension fund
clients and are generally terminable upon 30 days notice. The intangible asset and goodwill have been allocated fully to the Management and
Service Operations Segment.

On March 17, 2003, MIG was directed by one of its advisory clients to initiate the sale of all of the client's real estate investments. Upon the
successful sale of these investments (currently, it is not known when the actual sales will occur), the Company would no longer receive the
property and asset management fee revenue associated with them. Revenue received from these investments for the quarter ended March 31,
2003 was $417,000 or 1.0% of total revenues. The approximate amount of annual fee revenue generated by these investments is $1.7 million.

Information on the intangible asset is as follows:

Intangible Asset Subject to Amortization

Intangible Deferred Net Intangible
Subject to Tax Asset Subject

(In thousands) Amortization Liability to Amortization

Intangible Asset Subject to Amortization:

Gross carrying amount $ 5,405 $ (663) $ 4,742

Less: Accumulated amortization (4,609) 522 (4,087)

Less: Impairment write off in 2002 (312) 46 (266)

Balance as of March 31, 2003 $ 484 $ (95) $ 389

Estimated remaining amortization expense:

For the nine months ended December 31, 2003 $ 290 $ (57) $ 233

For the year ended December 31, 2004 194 (38) 156

The net amount of intangible asset amortization expense recorded for the periods ended March 31, 2003 and 2002 is $78,000 and $141,000,
respectively.
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Goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill at March 31, 2003 was $1.7 million. The Company completed its annual review of goodwill during the quarter
ended March 31, 2003. The review included the effect of the above mentioned advisory client directive to liquidate the client's real estate
holdings. The Company used the discounted value of expected future cash flows to determine the fair value of the goodwill. Based on its
analysis, the Company determined that the goodwill was not currently impaired. Therefore, there were no changes to the carrying amount of
goodwill during the three months ended March 31, 2003.

6. TRANSACTIONS WITH AFFILIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Management and Other Services

The Company provides management and other services to (and is reimbursed for certain expenses incurred on behalf of) certain non-owned
properties in which the Company's Chief Executive Officer and/or other related parties have varying ownership interests. The entities which own
these properties, as well as other related parties, are referred to as "affiliates." The Company or one of its subsidiaries or Service Companies also
provides similar services to joint venture properties.

Summarized affiliate and joint venture transaction activity is as follows:

For the three months

ended March 31,
(In thousands) 2003 2002

Property management fee and other

miscellaneous service revenues - affiliates $ 409 $ 389

- joint ventures 71 235

Painting service revenues - affiliates 57 85

- joint ventures 23 79

Expenses incurred on behalf

of and reimbursed by (1) - affiliates 967 961

Edgar Filing: ASSOCIATED ESTATES REALTY CORP - Form 10-Q

14



- joint ventures 105 867

Interest income - affiliates 26 31

Interest expense - affiliates (10) (22)

- joint ventures (1) (3)
(1) Primarily payroll and employee benefits, reimbursed at cost.

Property management fees and other miscellaneous receivables due from affiliates and joint venture properties aggregated $2.3 million and $2.2
million at March 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively.

Advances to Affiliates and Joint Ventures

In the normal course of business, the Company has advanced funds on behalf of affiliates and joint ventures. Funds advanced to affiliates and
joint ventures aggregated $52,000 and $328,000 at March 31, 2003, respectively, and $63,000 and $420,000 at December 31, 2002, respectively,
and represented funds not yet repaid to the Company. The Company also holds funds for the benefit of affiliates and joint ventures which in the
aggregate amounted to $3.6 million and $615,000 at March 31, 2003, respectively, and $3.3 million and $362,000 at December 31, 2002,
respectively.

Notes Receivable

At March 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, two notes of equal amounts were receivable from the Company's Chief Executive Officer
aggregating $3.4 million (included in "Accounts and notes receivables-affiliates and joint ventures") both of which mature May 1, 2005. One of
the notes is partially secured by 150,000 of the Company's common shares; the other note is unsecured. For the three months ended March 31,
2003 and 2002, the interest rates charged on these notes were approximately 3.1% and 3.6%, respectively. The Company recognized interest
income of $26,000 and $31,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, relating to these notes.

Professional Services Agreement

Effective July 1, 2002, the Company entered into a professional services agreement with Gelber & Associates Corporation ("Gelber") in which a
brother-in-law of the Company's Chief Executive Officer is a principal. Under the agreement, Gelber will consult with the Company on the
purchase of natural gas. Gelber will receive a service fee of $3,000 plus 30.0% of any savings, as defined in the agreement, realized by the
Company. The Company paid Gelber $13,000 during the quarter ended March 31, 2003.

7. SHARES

Edgar Filing: ASSOCIATED ESTATES REALTY CORP - Form 10-Q

15



On March 14, 2003, the Company granted 3,770 of restricted shares to executives of the Company under the annual incentive plan. These
awards were made from the Company's Equity-Based Incentive Compensation Plan and were granted from treasury shares. The Company's
policy on the reissuance of treasury shares is to account for the issuance on the First-In First-Out method. At March 31, 2003, the Company held
3,533,324 treasury shares at a cost of $32.0 million.

8. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share ("EPS") has been computed pursuant to the provisions of SFAS No. 128. There were 2.3 million and 3.2 million options to
purchase common shares outstanding at March 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. None of the options were included in the calculation of diluted
earnings per share for the periods presented as their inclusion would be antidilutive to the net loss available to common shares before
discontinued operations.

The exchange of operating partnership minority interests into common shares was not included in the computation of diluted EPS because the
Company plans to settle these OP units in cash.

9. INTERIM SEGMENT REPORTING

The Company has four reportable segments: (1) Acquisition/Disposition Multifamily Properties; (2) Same Store Market Rate ("Market Rate")
Multifamily Properties; (3) Affordable Housing Multifamily Properties; and (4) Management and Service Operations. The Company has
identified these segments based upon how management makes decisions regarding resource allocation and performance assessment. The
Acquisition/Disposition properties represent acquired or developed properties which have not yet reached stabilization (the Company considers a
property stabilized when its occupancy rate reaches 93.0% or one year following the purchase or delivery of the final units, whichever occurs
first), and properties that have been sold. The Market Rate Multifamily Properties are same store conventional multifamily residential
apartments. The Affordable Housing properties are multifamily properties for which the rents are subsidized and certain aspects of the
operations are regulated by HUD pursuant to Section 8 of the National Housing Act of 1937. The Management and Service Operations provide
management and advisory services to the Acquired, Market Rate and Affordable Housing properties which are owned by the Company, as well
as to clients and properties not owned by the Company. All of the Company's segments are located in the United States.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in the "Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting
Policies" in the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002. The Company evaluates the performance of its reportable
segments based on Net Operating Income ("NOI"). NOI is determined by deducting property operating and maintenance expenses from total
revenues for the Acquisition/Disposition, Market Rate and Affordable Housing segments and deducting direct property management and service
companies expenses and painting services expenses from total revenues for the Management and Service Operations segment. Effective January
1, 2003, the Company revised its method of allocating expenses to its service companies. Previously the Company allocated an amount equal to
85.0% of the Management and Service Companies revenues as service companies expenses. The Company now identifies expenses which are
directly associated with the management and service companies and classifies them as service companies expenses. NOI should not be
considered as an alternative to net income (determined in accordance with GAAP), as an indicator of the Company's financial performance, cash
flow from operating activities (determined in accordance with GAAP) or as a measure of the Company's liquidity, nor is it necessarily indicative
of sufficient cash flow to fund all of the Company's needs. Certain other real estate companies may define NOI in a different manner.
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Information on the Company's segments for the three months ended March 31, 2003 and 2002 is as follows:

For the three months ended March 31, 2003

Management

Acquisition/ Same Store Affordable and Service Total

(In thousands) Disposition Market Rate Housing Operations Consolidated

Total segment revenues $ 1,903 $ 29,996 $ 2,339 $ 6,024 $ 40,262

Elimination of intersegment revenues - (64) (2) (2,059) (2,125)

Consolidated revenues 1,903 29,932 2,337 3,965 38,137

Equity in net loss of joint ventures (211) (135) (8) - (354)

*NOI 438 14,774 1,160 256 16,628

Total assets 3,805 670,817 9,282 41,197 725,101
*Intersegment revenues and expenses have been eliminated in the computation of NOI for each of the segments.

For the three months ended March 31, 2002

Management

Acquisition/ Same Store Affordable and Service Total

(In thousands) Disposition Market Rate Housing Operations Consolidated

Total segment revenues $ 32 $ 31,284 $ 2,330 $ 8,567 $ 42,213

Elimination of intersegment revenues - (46) (3) (2,026) (2,075)

Consolidated revenues 32 31,238 2,327 6,541 40,138

Equity in net loss of joint ventures (178) (65) 1 - (242)

*NOI 4 17,122 1,261 864 19,251

Total assets 20,229 700,455 10,322 32,347 763,353
*Intersegment revenues and expenses have been eliminated in the computation of NOI for each of the segments.

A reconciliation of total segment NOI to total consolidated net (loss) income for the three months ended March 31, 2003 and 2002 is as follows:

For the three months

ended March 31,

(In thousands) 2003 2002

Total NOI for reportable segments $ 16,628 $ 19,251

Depreciation and amortization (8,693) (8,435)
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General and administrative expense (1,512) (1,983)

Interest expense (10,029) (9,955)

Gain on disposition of properties - 255

Equity in net loss of joint ventures (354) (242)

Minority interest in operating partnership (22) (116)

Income from discontinued operations - 59

Consolidated net (loss) income $ (3,982) $ (1,166)

10. CONTINGENCIES

On August 10, 2001, Fluor Daniel, Inc. ("FDI") filed a Demand For Arbitration with the American Arbitration Association ("AAA") arising out
of construction services provided by FDI to MIG/Orlando Development, LTD ("MOD"), an affiliate of the Company, pursuant to a construction
contract between FDI and MOD for the construction of a 460-unit apartment community located in Orlando, Florida. FDI claims that it suffered
damages in the amount of $1.6 million in performing the work because of the owner's breach of the construction contract. Both MOD and the
Company were named as party defendants in this litigation; however, during 2002, the Company was dismissed as a party to this litigation.
MOD has filed a counterclaim with the AAA against FDI seeking liquidated damages of $1.9 million arising out of FDI's failure to complete the
project in a timely manner as required by the terms of the construction contract. MOD acquired this project in 1998 as part of the Company's
acquisition of MIG Realty Advisors from a group that included persons who were former officers and directors of the Company, which group
could have a material interest adverse to the Company because of indemnification obligations owing to the Company in connection with this
litigation. The arbitration proceedings in this matter have been temporarily stayed pending a renewed mediation effort. Should such mediation
efforts fail, the Company intends to vigorously defend this claim and pursue its counterclaim, but cannot predict the final outcome of this
dispute.

On August 28, 2001, Helene Fien filed a complaint in the Court of Common Pleas, Cuyahoga County, Ohio against the Company, its CEO,
Jeffrey I. Friedman, AEC Management Company (a corporation that merged with the Company at the time of the IPO in 1993) and Associated
Estates Corporation (a non-affiliated company). The complaint alleges fraud, breach of fiduciary duty and conversion against each of the
defendants and a RICO claim against the individual defendant in connection with various minority interests (5% or less) in pre IPO entities
allegedly held by Mrs. Fien's deceased husband at the time of his death in 1985. The Complaint demands compensatory damages in the amount
of $10.0 million plus punitive damages, attorneys' fees, interests and costs. In December 2002, pursuant to a motion to dismiss filed by the
Company and the other defendants, the court dismissed all of the plaintiff's claims except the claim filed for conversion. Subsequently, the
Company and the plaintiff entered into settlement negotiations which resulted in what the Company believed to be a final settlement and
resolution of this litigation. However, the plaintiff now disclaims that it agreed to a settlement. Consequently, the Company is now seeking to
enforce the settlement agreement. If the Company is unsuccessful in such efforts, it will vigorously defend this lawsuit. The Company cannot
predict the outcome of this litigation.

The Company is also subject to other legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary course of its business. Although occasional
adverse decisions (or settlements) may occur, the Company believes that the final disposition of any such pending matters will not have a
material adverse effect on the financial position or results of operations of the Company.

11. GUARANTIES
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In connection with the refinancing of the Watergate Apartments, the Company has guaranteed completion of certain improvements totaling
approximately $7.0 million. This obligation is secured by a $3.5 million letter of credit. The Company has also guaranteed the payment of a
$30.0 million construction loan in connection with Idlewylde Apartments Phase II, a 535-unit multifamily community located in Atlanta,
Georgia which is being developed by the Company and its pension fund joint venture partner. This loan matures December 10, 2003 with two
one-year options to extend. The Company has recorded no liability in relation to this guarantee at March 31, 2003. The Company has guaranteed
the payment of a $15.8 million construction loan in connection with the development of Courtney Chase Apartments, a 288-unit multifamily
community located in Orlando, Florida which is being developed by the Company and its pension fund joint venture partner. This loan matures
June 1, 2005, with an option to extend the maturity for two additional years. The Company has recorded no liability in relation to this guarantee
at March 31, 2003. The Company also has guaranty obligations under a $220,000 letter of credit for purposes of guaranteeing certain equity
contributions required by the construction lender in connection with Berkley Manor, a 252-unit multifamily community located in Cranberry
Township, Pennsylvania, which is being developed by the Company and its joint venture partner. The Company has recorded no liability in
relation to this guarantee at March 31, 2003.

12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Dividends Declared and Paid

On April 3, 2003, the Company declared a quarterly dividend of $0.17 per common share which was paid on May 1, 2003 to shareholders of
record on April 15, 2003.

On April 3, 2003, the Company declared a quarterly dividend of $0.60938 per Depositary Share on its Class A Cumulative Preferred Shares
which will be paid on June 16, 2003 to shareholders of record on June 2, 2003.

Sale of Joint Venture Property

On April 17, 2003, the Company and its joint venture partner completed the sale of a 36-unit market rate property located in Northeast Ohio.
The buyer purchased the property for a contract price of $990,000. The Company's portion of the estimated gain of approximately $400,000 will
be recorded in the quarter ended June 30, 2003.
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Debt Repayment

On April 22, 2003, the Company repaid a $2.3 million nonrecourse loan encumbering a Market Rate property located in Northeast Ohio. The
Company intends to obtain a new loan secured by the same property in the amount of $5.5 million. The interest rate on the loan that was repaid
was 9.63%; and the interest rate on the proposed loan is LIBOR plus 2.0% or 3.30% at March 31, 2003.

On May 1, 2003, the Company repaid a $2.7 million nonrecourse loan encumbering a Market Rate property located in Michigan. The Company
intends to obtain a new loan secured by the same property in the amount of $4.0 million. The interest rate on the loan that was repaid was 7.50%;
and the interest rate on the proposed loan is LIBOR plus 2.0% or 3.30% at March 31, 2003.

Index

ASSOCIATED ESTATES REALTY CORPORATION

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL

CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto included in Part I, Item 1 of this Report
on Form 10-Q. Historical results and percentage relationships set forth in the Consolidated Statements of Operations contained in the financial
statements, including trends which might appear, should not be taken as indicative of future operations. This discussion may also contain
forward-looking statements based on current judgments and current knowledge of management, which are subject to certain risks, trends and
uncertainties that could cause actual results to vary from those projected. Accordingly, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on
forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are intended to be covered by the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Investors are cautioned that the Company's forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainty, including
without limitation the following:

changes in economic conditions in the markets in which the Company owns properties, including interest
rates, the overall level of economic activity, the availability of consumer credit and mortgage financing,
unemployment rates and other factors;

• 

risks of a lessening of demand for the multifamily units owned or managed by the Company;• 

competition from other available apartments and change in market rental rates;• 

increases in property and liability insurance costs;• 

changes in government regulations affecting the Affordable Housing properties;• 

changes in or termination of contracts relating to third party management and advisory business;• 
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inability to renew current Housing Assistance Payment ("HAP") contracts at existing rents;• 

weather and other conditions that might adversely affect operating expenses;• 

expenditures that cannot be anticipated such as utility rate and usage increases, unanticipated repairs,
additional staffing, and real estate tax valuation reassessments;

• 

changes in market conditions that may limit or prevent the Company from acquiring or selling properties; and• 

risks of construction, including cost overruns, contractor defaults and contractor delays.• 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company anticipates that it will meet its liquidity requirements for the current year generally through net cash provided by operations,
secured borrowings (primarily through the use of the Company's two lines of credit, which had $16.8 million available at March 31, 2003), and
possible issuance of debt or equity securities. The Company believes that these sources will be sufficient to meet its working capital, capital
expenditures and scheduled debt repayment needs as well as funding payments of its dividends in accordance with REIT requirements.

The Company anticipates the following material commitments for capital expenditures for the balance of 2003.

$8.0 million for recurring capital expenditures. This includes replacement of worn carpet and appliances and
property common area parking lots, roofs and similar matters in accordance with the Company's current
property expenditure plan. This commitment is expected to be funded largely from cash flow provided by
operating activities;

• 

$6.5 million for investment/revenue enhancing expenditures. This commitment is expected to be funded
largely from borrowings on the Company's lines of credit; and

• 

$460,000 for non-recurring capital expenditures. This commitment is expected to be funded largely from
borrowings on the Company's lines of credit.

• 

Significant sources and uses of cash for the three months ended March 31, 2003 and 2002 are summarized as follows, in thousands:
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Cash Sources (Uses):

For the three months

ended March 31,
(In thousands) 2003 2002

Net cash from operating activities $ 5,414 $ 5,822

Real estate and fixed asset additions (1,795) (2,444)

Net proceeds from sales of properties - 3,791

Increases (decreases) in debt-net 2,314 (1,873)

Cash dividends paid (4,681) (6,226)

Treasury share transactions (65) 441

Cash increase (decrease) $ 1,187 $ (489)

Cash flow from operating activity: Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $5.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2003,
which was a decrease of $400,000 from the same period in 2002. The primary reason for this decrease was a net loss in 2003 that was $2.8
million greater than the net loss in 2002 and a $1.2 million decrease in accounts payable. The primary reasons for the increase in net loss are an
$840,000 reduction of property and asset management fees earned primarily due to the loss of a major MIG client in the fourth quarter of 2002,
an increase of $2.6 million in property operating and maintenance expenses in 2003, net of a reduction of $471,000 in general and administrative
expenses in 2003. These fluctuations are more fully discussed in the Results of Operations comparison. The accounts payable decrease was
primarily a result of the timing of expense accruals and payments. These reductions were partially offset by a decrease of $1.3 million in
receivables resulting primarily from the receipt of funds related to a property insurance claim.

Net cash flows used for investing activities of $1.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2003 represents a decrease of $3.1 million
compared to the same period in 2002. This decrease was primarily the result of $3.8 million of net proceeds from the sale of an operating
property in 2002. There were no sales during the three months ended March 31, 2003.

Net cash flows used for financing activities of $2.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2003 represents a reduction of the use of $5.2
million compared to the same period in 2002. This decrease in cash used was primarily due to the net line of credit borrowings of $4.0 million in
2003 compared to the net line of credit repayment of $500,000 in 2002. Additionally, the common share dividends paid in 2003 were reduced
$1.5 million when compared to 2002 as a result of the reduction in the common share dividend to $0.17 per share from $0.25 per share.

At March 31, 2003, the Company had $4.0 million outstanding under a $20.0 million secured line of credit. This line of credit matures in July
2003. The Company intends to replace this line with a similar line. Borrowings under this line of credit are currently restricted up to an amount
of $12.6 million. Borrowings under this line of credit bear interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 1.5% or approximately 2.80% at March 31, 2003.
There were no borrowings outstanding under this line of credit at December 31, 2002. Additionally, the Company also has a $14.0 million line
of credit which matures December 31, 2003. The Company's borrowings under this line of credit bear interest at either the prime rate or LIBOR
plus 2.0% at the Borrower's option. There were no borrowings outstanding at either March 31, 2003 or December 31, 2002; however, the
amount currently available under this line of credit is limited to $8.2 million because of outstanding letters of credit and a credit risk sublimit
relative to derivative transactions. The Company intends to obtain an extension of this line upon maturity.
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The Company has guaranteed completion of certain improvements totaling $7.0 million in connection with the refinancing of the Watergate
Apartments. This obligation is secured by a $3.5 million letter of credit. The Company has also guaranteed the payment of a $30.0 million
construction loan in connection with the Idlewylde Apartments Phase II, a 535-unit multifamily community located in Atlanta, Georgia
developed by the Company and its pension fund joint venture partner. This loan matures December 10, 2003 with two one-year conditional
options to extend. The Company has recorded no liability in relation to this guarantee at March 31, 2003. The Company guaranteed the payment
of a $15.8 million construction loan in connection with the development of Courtney Chase Apartments, a 288-unit multifamily community
located in Orlando, Florida which is being developed by the Company and its pension fund joint venture partner. This loan matures June 1, 2005
with a conditional option to extend the maturity for two additional years. The Company has recorded no liability in relation to this guarantee at
March 31, 2003. The Company also has guaranty obligations under a $220,000 letter of credit for purposes of guaranteeing certain equity
contributions required by the construction lender in connection with Berkley Manor, a 252-unit multifamily community located in Cranberry
Township, Pennsylvania, developed by the Company and its joint venture partner. The Company has recorded no liability in relation to this
guarantee at March 31, 2003.

As provided in the AERC HP Investors Limited Partnership Agreement ("DownREIT Partnership"), the Company, as general partner, has
guaranteed the obligation of the DownREIT Partnership to redeem OP units held by the limited partners. The DownREIT Partnership was
formed in 1998 in connection with the MIG merger transactions. Under the terms of the DownREIT Partnership Agreement, the DownREIT
Partnership is obligated to redeem OP units for common shares or cash, at the Company's discretion, at a price per OP unit equal to the 20 day
trailing price of the Company's common shares for the immediate 20 day period preceding a limited partner's redemption notice. The Company
has redeemed, at the request of certain limited partners, 393,976 of the original 522,032 OP units, with 335,000 of the redemptions taking place
in the year ended December 31, 2002. These transactions had the effect of increasing the Company's interest in the DownREIT Partnership from
85.0% to 96.0%. There were no redemptions in the quarter ended March 31, 2003. The remaining 128,056 OP units have a carrying value of
$3.0 million.

Acquisitions/Dispositions of Multifamily Properties

Dispositions: On April 17, 2003, the Company and its joint venture partner completed the sale of a 36-unit Market Rate property located in
Northeastern Ohio in which the Company was a 50.0% partner. The buyer purchased the property for a contract sales price of $990,000. The
Company's portion of the estimated gain is approximately $400,000, which will be recorded in the quarter ended June 30, 2003. Management fee
revenue received for the quarter ended March 31, 2003, was $2,600 and the Company's proportionate share of income from the operations of this
property was $4,500 for the same time period. Additionally, the Company and its joint venture partner are marketing their property located in
Pennsylvania. The Company is a 49.0% partner in this property.

Potential Advisory Dispositions: On March 17, 2003, MIG was directed by one of its advisory clients to initiate the sale of all of the client's real
estate investments. Upon the successful sale of these investments, the Company would no longer receive the property and asset management fee
revenue associated with them. Revenue received from these investments for the quarter ended March 31, 2003 was $417,000 or 1.0% of total
revenues. The approximate amount of annual fee revenue generated by these investments is $1.7 million.

Development: The Company and its pension fund joint venture partner are developing Courtney Chase Apartments, located in Orlando, Florida.
During the quarter ended March 31, 2003, 84 units became available for lease. The Company anticipates completion of the remaining 204 units
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during 2003. The Company is a 24.0% partner in this project.

Market Rate Multifamily Properties

The Company's Market Rate Multifamily Properties ("Same Store Properties") continue to be impacted by declines in market fundamentals and
increased operating costs in most of the markets in which the Company operates. During the quarter ended March 31, 2003, Market Rate
properties' total revenues declined 4.1%, and total property operating expenses increased 7.4%. Management expects that total rental revenues
for the second quarter to increase approximately 1.0% to 2.0% from the first quarter. These increases are expected to be partially offset by
seasonal increases in operating expenses.

Dividends

On April 3, 2003, the Company declared a dividend of $0.17 per common share which was paid on May 1, 2003 to shareholders of record on
April 15, 2003. On April 3, 2003, the Company declared a dividend of $0.60938 per depository share on the Company's Class A Cumulative
Preferred Shares which will be paid on June 16, 2003 to shareholders of record on June 2, 2003.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Comparison of the quarter ended March 31, 2003 to the quarter ended March 31, 2002

In the following discussion of the comparison of the quarter ended March 31, 2003 to the quarter ended March 31, 2002, Market Rate properties
refers to the Same Store Market Rate property portfolio. Market Rate properties represents 60 wholly owned properties. Acquired/Disposed
properties represents two properties acquired in 2002 and properties that have been disposed. Affordable Housing properties represent 12
properties subject to HUD regulations.

Overall, total revenues decreased $2.0 million or 5.0% and total expenses increased $483,000 or 1.0% when comparing the quarter ended March
31, 2003 to the quarter ended March 31, 2002, respectively. Net income applicable to common shares after deduction for the dividends on the
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Company's preferred shares decreased $2.8 million or 111.0% when comparing the two quarters.

Rental Revenues: Rental revenues increased $418,000 or 1.3% in 2003. The Acquisition/Disposition properties rental revenues increased $1.8
million in 2003, primarily due to the addition of the two properties acquired in April 2002. The Market Rate properties decreased $1.4 million or
4.6% in 2003. This decrease was primarily attributable to an increase in vacancies and concessions. The average rental rate charged per unit for
the Market Rate properties increased to $823 per month in 2003 from $809 per month in 2002; however, the physical occupancy decreased to
89.7% in 2003 from 90.5% in 2002. This decrease in occupancy rates, coupled with increased concessions, reduced net collected rent per unit
for the Market Rate properties to $663 per month in 2003 from $697 per month in 2002. The resulting economic occupancies were 80.6% in
2003 compared to 86.0% in 2002.

Other Revenues: Property and asset management revenues decreased $2.6 million or 43.0% in 2003 primarily as a result of the loss of 11 client
advised properties in the fourth quarter of 2002 and nine other individual property management contracts during 2002. The loss of these
contracts resulted in a reduction in asset management fees of $322,000, a reduction in property management fees of $409,000 and a reduction in
direct property management expense reimbursements of $1.7 million. The reduction in direct property management expense reimbursements
was offset by an identical reduction in expenses since these expenses, which are primarily payroll related expenses, are included in the same
amount in both revenues and expenses. This activity relates to the Management and Service Companies segment.

Property Operating and Maintenance Expenses: Property operating and maintenance expenses increased $2.6 million in 2003 compared to
2002. The increase was primarily attributable to increased utility expenses of $1.1 million. Utility expenses for the Market Rate properties
increased $426,000 primarily as a result of the increased gas consumption due to the colder winter in 2003 compared to 2002 and increased
rates. Utility expense7.5pt; text-align:right; white-space:nowrap;">—%​​

Thetis Asset Management LLC(19)
​​​​98,501​​​​​*​​​​​169,088​​​​​—​​​​​—%​​
Continental General Insurance Company(20)
​​​​66,502​​​​​*​​​​​66,502​​​​​—​​​​​—%​​
National Interstate Insurance Company(21)
​​​​66,502​​​​​*​​​​​66,502​​​​​—​​​​​—%​​
United Teacher Associates Insurance Company(22)
​​​​66,502​​​​​*​​​​​66,502​​​​​—​​​​​—%​​
HRS Investment Holdings LLC(17)
​​​​63,200​​​​​*​​​​​63,200​​​​​—​​​​​—%​​
Pine River Deerwood Fund Ltd.(23)
​​​​28,394​​​​​*​​​​​28,394​​​​​—​​​​​—%​​
Column Park Master Fund Ltd.(24)
​​​​16,667​​​​​*​​​​​16,667​​​​​—​​​​​—%​​
Gorham Fundamental Value Fund, Ltd.(26)
​​​​12,000​​​​​*​​​​​12,000​​​​​—​​​​​—%​​
Brent H. & Maureen B. Hodges(27)
​​​​6,000​​​​​*​​​​​6,000​​​​​—​​​​​—%​​
Kevin B. and Anne Marie Roth Revocable
Trust(28)
​​​​5,000​​​​​*​​​​​5,000​​​​​—​​​​​—%​​
Fairway Fund Limited(25)
​​​​4,922​​​​​*​​​​​4,922​​​​​—​​​​​—%​​
Patravi Capital LLC(29)
​​​​400​​​​​*​​​​​400​​​​​—​​​​​—%​​
​
*
Less than 1%
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​
(1)
Includes 624,106 OP units which are redeemable for cash (or at our election shares of our common stock). Wellington Management Company
LLP, an investment adviser registered under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, is the investment adviser to Ithan Creek Master
Investors (Cayman) L.P. Wellington Management Company LLP is an indirect subsidiary of Wellington Management Group LLP. Wellington
Management Company LLP and Wellington Management Group LLP may be deemed to beneficially own the shares indicated in the table, all of
which are held of record by Ithan Creek Master Investors (Cayman) L.P., and have shared voting power and dispositive power with
​
​
5

TABLE OF CONTENTS
respect to the shares owned by Ithan Creek Master Investors (Cayman) L.P. The business address of Ithan Creek
Master Investors (Cayman) L.P., Wellington Management Company LLP and Wellington Management Group LLP is
280 Congress Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02210. Wholly owned subsidiaries of Ithan Creek Master Investors
(Cayman) L.P. also own interests in our Manager and Great Ajax-FS LLC, the parent of the Servicer.
(2)
The business address of Flexpoint Great Ajax Holdings LLC is c/o Flexpoint Ford, LLC at 676 N. Michigan Avenue,
Suite 3300, Chicago, IL 60611. Flexpoint Great Ajax Holdings LLC also owns interests in our Manager and Great
Ajax-FS LLC, the parent of the Servicer.
​
(3)
TIG Advisors, LLC is an investment adviser registered under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended. The
shares indicated in the table are held of record by investment advisory clients of TIG Advisors, LLC, including TIG
Securitized Asset Master Fund, L.P. TIG Advisors, LLC may be deemed to beneficially own the shares indicated in
the table, and have shared voting power and dispositive power with respect to such shares. The business address of
TIG Advisors, LLC is 520 Madison, 26th Floor, New York, New York 10022.
​
(4)
The business address of BHCO Master, Ltd. (“BHCO”) is 545 Madison Avenue, 10th Floor, New York, New York
10022. Michael Thomson, the managing partner of BHCO, exercises voting and investment discretion over the shares.
​
(5)
The business address of Republic Indemnity Company of America is 201 East 4th Street, Cincinnati, Ohio 45202.
Great American Advisors, Inc., a registered broker-dealer, is a subsidiary of American Financial Group, Inc. (“AFG”)
and Republic Indemnity Company of America is a wholly-owned subsidiary of AFG. Republic Indemnity Company
of America purchased its shares in the ordinary course of business and did not at the time of the purchase have any
agreements or understandings, directly or indirectly, to distribute the shares. The board of directors of American
Financial Group, Inc., consisting of 11 members, exercises voting and investment control over the shares held by
Republic Indemnity Company of America.
​
(6)
The business address of Great American Life Insurance Company (“Great American”) is 201 East Fourth Street,
Cincinnati, Ohio 45202. The board of directors of Great American, consisting of five members, has voting and
investment power over the shares. Great American is an affiliate of Great American Advisors, Inc., a registered
broker-dealer, and purchased its shares in the ordinary course of business and did not at the time of the purchase have
any agreements or understandings, directly or indirectly, to distribute the shares.
​
(7)
The business address of Trishield Capital Management is 540 Madison Avenue, 14th Floor, New York, New York
10022. The shares beneficially owned by Trishield Capital Management LLC are held by Trishield Special Situation
Master Fund Ltd. (“Trishield”). Robert L. Harteveldt and Alan J. Buick Jr. exercise voting and investment discretion
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over the shares through Trishield Capital Management LLC, the investment advisor of Trishield.
​
(8)
The business address of MMF Moore ET Investments, LP is c/o Moore Capital Management, LP, 1251 Avenue of
Americas, New York, New York 10020. Moore Capital Management, LP is the discretionary investment manager of
MMF Moore ET Investments, LP and has the power to exercise voting and dispositive powers over the shares. Louis
M. Bacon controls Moore Capital Management, LP.
​
(9)
The business address of AllianceBernstein Financial Services Opportunities Master Fund L.P. is 1345 Avenue of the
Americas, New York, New York 10105. AllianceBernstein L.P. is the general partner and investment manager of
AllianceBernstein Financial Opportunities Master Fund L.P. and has voting and investment power over the shares.
Mike Howard, is the Senior Vice President of AllianceBernstein L.P. However, Mike Howard and AllianceBernstein
L.P. disclaim beneficial ownership of any of the shares owned by AllianceBernstein Financial Opportunities Master
Fund L.P., other than to the extent of his or its pecuniary interest therein.
​
(10)
The business address of Gregory Funding LLC is 9400 SW Beaverton Hillsdale Hwy, Beaverton, Oregon 97005.
Gregory Funding LLC is our Servicer.
​
​
6
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(11)
The business address of Pine River Fixed Income Master Fund, Ltd. is c/o Pine River Capital Management L.P., 301
Carlson Parkway, Suite 330, Minnetonka, Minnesota 55305. Pine River Capital Management L.P. (“Pine River”) is the
investment manager of Pine River Fixed Income Master Fund Ltd. and has voting and investment power over the
shares. Brian Taylor is the managing member of Pine River Capital Management LLC, an entity which is the general
partner of Pine River. However, Mr. Taylor, Pine River and Pine River Capital Management LLC disclaim beneficial
ownership of the shares owned by Pine River Fixed Income Master Fund Ltd., other than to the extent of his or its
pecuniary interest therein.
​
(12)
The business address of Fore Multi Strategy Master Fund, Ltd. is 510 Madison Avenue, 11th Floor, New York, New
York 10022. As investment manager under an investment management agreement, Fore Research & Management, LP
may exercise dispositive and voting power with respect to the shares owned by Fore Multi Strategy Master Fund, Ltd.
Matthew Li, LLC is the general partner of Fore Research & Management, LP and Yanxiu Li is the managing member
of Matthew Li, LLC. Each of Fore Research & Management, LP, Mr. Li and Matthew Li, LLC disclaim beneficial
ownership of the shares owned by Fore Multi Strategy Master Fund, Ltd.
​
(13)
The business address of Calm Waters Partnership is 115 South 84th Street, Suite 200, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53214.
Richard S. Strong, managing partner of Calm Waters Partnership has voting and investment power over the shares.
​
(14)
The business address of BP Master Fund, LP is 717 Fifth Avenue, Floor 12A, New York, New York 10022. Orin S.
Kramer has voting and investment power over the shares.
​
(15)
The business address of Pine River Master Fund Ltd. is c/o Pine River Capital Management L.P., 301 Carlson
Parkway, Suite 330, Minnetonka, Minnesota 55305. Pine River is the investment manager of Pine River Master Fund
Ltd. and has voting and investment power over the shares. Brian Taylor is the managing member of Pine River Capital
Management LLC, an entity which is the general partner of Pine River. However, Mr. Taylor, Pine River and Pine
River Capital Management LLC disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares owned by Pine River Master Fund Ltd.,
other than to the extent of his or its pecuniary interest therein.
​
(16)
The business address of Edward & Sandra Meyer Foundation, Inc. is 767 Fifth Avenue, 19th Floor, New York, New
York 10153. Edward H. Meyer, president of Edward & Sandra Meyer Foundation, Inc. exercises voting and
investment discretion over the shares.
​
(17)
The business address of HRS Investment Holdings LLC is 600 Madison Avenue, 26th Floor, New York, New York
10022. HRS Investment Holdings LLC is indirectly controlled by Joshua Harris, who is deemed to be an affiliate of
Apollo Global Securities, LLC, which is a registered broker-dealer. HRS Investment Holdings LLC purchased its
shares in the ordinary course of business and did not at the time of the purchase have any agreements or
understandings, directly or indirectly, to distribute the shares.
​
(18)
The business address of Ocean Road Investment Partners, LP is 767 Fifth Avenue, 18th Floor, New York, New York
10153. Edward H. Meyer, chief executive officer of Ocean Road Advisors, Inc., general partner of Ocean Road
Investment Partners, LP, exercises voting and investment discretion over the shares.
​
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The business address of Thetis Asset Management LLC, manager of the Company, is 9400 SW Beaverton Hillsdale
Hwy Suite #131, Beaverton, Oregon 97005.
​
(20)
The business address of Continental General Insurance Company is 301 East Fourth Street, Cincinnati, Ohio 45202.
Continental General Insurance Company is an affiliate of Great American Advisors, Inc., a registered broker-dealer
and purchased its shares in the ordinary course of business and did not at the time of the purchase have any
agreements or understandings, directly or indirectly, to distribute the shares. The board of directors of Continental
General Insurance Company, consisting of five members, has voting and investment power over the shares.
​
(21)
The business address of National Interstate Insurance Company is 3250 Interstate Drive, Richfield, Ohio 44286. Great
American Advisors, Inc., a registered broker-dealer, is a subsidiary of American
​
​
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Financial Group (“AFG”). AFG is the majority shareholder of National Interstate Insurance Company. National
Interstate Insurance Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of National Interstate Corporation. National Interstate
Insurance Company purchased its shares in the ordinary course of business and did not at the time of the purchase
have any agreements or understandings, directly or indirectly, to distribute the shares. The board of directors of
National Interstate Corporation, consisting of 10 members, exercise voting and investment control over the shares held
by National Interstate Insurance Company.
(22)
The business address of United Teacher Associates Insurance Company is 301 East Fourth Street, Cincinnati, Ohio
45202. United Teacher Associates Insurance Company is an affiliate of Great American Advisors, Inc., a registered
broker-dealer and purchased its shares in the ordinary course of business and did not at the time of the purchase have
any agreements or understandings, directly or indirectly, to distribute the shares. The board of directors of United
Teacher Associates Insurance Company, consisting of five members, has voting and investment power over the
shares.
​
(23)
The business address of Pine River Deerwood Fund Ltd. c/o Pine River Capital Management L.P., 301 Carlson
Parkway, Suite 330, Minnetonka, Minnesota 55305. Pine River Capital Management L.P. (“Pine River”) is the
investment manager of Pine River Deerwood Fund Ltd. and has voting and investment power over the shares. Brian
Taylor is the managing member of Pine River Capital Management LLC, an entity which is the general partner of
Pine River. However, Mr. Taylor, Pine River and Pine River Capital Management LLC disclaim beneficial ownership
of the shares owned by Pine River Deerwood Fund Ltd., other than to the extent of his or its pecuniary interest therein.
​
(24)
The business address of Column Park Master Fund Ltd. c/o Column Park Asset Management, LP, 3 Columbus Circle,
Suite 1604, New York, New York 10019. Brian Nold, Daniel Shatz and Andrew Brenner has voting and investment
power over the shares.
​
(25)
The business address of Fairway Fund Limited is 510 Madison Avenue, 11th Floor, New York, New York 10022. As
investment manager under an investment management agreement, Fore Research & Management, LP may exercise
dispositive and voting power with respect to the shares owned by Fairway Fund Limited. Matthew Li, LLC is the
general partner of Fore Research & Management, LP and Yanxiu Li is the managing member of Matthew Li, LLC.
Each of Fore Research & Management, LP, Mr. Li and Matthew Li, LLC disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares
owned by Fairway Fund Limited.
​
(26)
The business address of Gorham Fundamental Value Fund, Ltd. is 570 Lexington Avenue, 22nd Floor, New York,
New York 10022.
​
(27)
The business address of Brent H. & Maureen B. Hodges is 3049 N. Quincy Street, Arlington, Virginia 22207.
​
(28)
The business address of Kevin B. and Anne Marie Roth Revocable Trust is 19745 Brampton Court Brookfield,
Wisconsin 53045.
​
(29)
The business address of Patravi Capital LLC is 119 Washington Avenue, Suite 605, Miami Beach, Florida 33139.
Jason Kaplan, the managing member of Patravi Capital LLC, has voting and investment power over the shares.
​
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION
The selling stockholders may sell the shares being offered from time to time in one or more transactions:
•
on the NYSE or otherwise;
​
•
in the over-the-counter market;
​
•
in negotiated transactions;
​
•
through broker-dealers, who may act as agents or principals;
​
•
through one or more underwriters on a firm commitment or best efforts basis;
​
•
through the writing of options on shares, whether the options are listed on an options exchange or otherwise; or
​
•
a combination of such methods of sale.
​
The selling stockholders may sell the shares at market prices prevailing at the time of sale, at prices related to those
market prices or at negotiated prices. The selling stockholders also may sell the shares pursuant to Rule 144 adopted
under the Securities Act, as permitted by that rule. The selling stockholders may effect transactions by selling shares
directly to purchasers or to or through broker-dealers. The broker-dealers may act as agents or principals. The
broker-dealers may receive compensation in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions from the selling
stockholders or the purchasers of the shares. The compensation of any particular broker-dealer may be in excess of
customary commissions. Because the selling stockholders and broker-dealers that participate with the selling
stockholders in the distribution of shares may be deemed to be “underwriters” within the meaning of Section 2(11) of
the Securities Act, the selling stockholders will be subject to the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities
Act. Any commissions received by them and any profit on the resale of shares may be deemed to be underwriting
compensation.
The selling stockholders have advised us that they have not entered into any agreements, understandings or
arrangements with any underwriters or broker-dealers regarding the sale of their securities.
The shares will be sold through registered or licensed brokers or dealers if required under applicable state securities
laws. In addition, in certain states the shares may not be sold unless they have been registered or qualified for sale in
the applicable state or an exemption from the registration or qualification requirement is available and is complied
with.
In addition, each selling stockholder will be subject to applicable provisions of the Exchange Act and the associated
rules and regulations under the Exchange Act, including Regulation M, which provisions may limit the timing of
purchases and sales of shares of our common stock by the selling stockholders. We will make copies of this
prospectus available to the selling stockholders and have informed them of the need to deliver copies of this
prospectus to purchasers at or prior to the time of any sale of the shares.
We will bear all costs, expenses and fees in connection with the registration of the shares. The selling stockholders
will bear all commissions and discounts, if any, attributable to the sales of the shares. The selling stockholders have
agreed to indemnify certain persons, including broker-dealers and agents, against certain liabilities in connection with
the offering of the shares, including liabilities arising under the Securities Act. The selling stockholders may agree to
indemnify any broker-dealer or agent that participates in transactions involving sales of the shares against certain
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liabilities, including liabilities arising under the Securities Act.
Upon notification to us by a selling stockholder that any material arrangement has been entered into with
broker-dealers for the sale or purchase of shares, we will file a supplement to this prospectus, if required, disclosing:
•
the name of the participating broker-dealers;
​
•
the number of shares involved;
​
​
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•
the price at which such shares were sold;
​
•
the commissions paid or discounts or concessions allowed to such broker-dealers, where applicable;
​
•
that such broker-dealers did not conduct any investigation to verify the information set out or incorporated by
reference in this prospectus; and
​
•
other facts material to the transaction.
​
In addition, upon being notified by a selling stockholder that a donee or pledgee intends to sell more than 500 shares,
we will file a supplement to this prospectus.
10
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK
The following summary description of our capital stock does not purport to be complete and is subject to and qualified
in its entirety by reference to Maryland law, our charter and our bylaws, copies of which are filed as exhibits to the
registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. See “Where You Can Find More Information.”
General
Our charter provides that we may issue up to 125,000,000 shares of common stock and 25,000,000 shares of preferred
stock, both having par value $0.01 per share. Our charter authorizes our board of directors to amend our charter to
increase or decrease the aggregate number of authorized shares or the number of shares of any class or series without
stockholder approval. As of April 12, 2016, 15,942,638 shares of common stock were issued and outstanding,
including 624,106 shares reserved for issuance upon redemption of OP Units held by persons other than us, and no
shares of preferred stock were issued and outstanding. Maryland law provides that none of our stockholders is
personally liable to our creditors for any of our obligations solely as a result of that stockholder’s status as a
stockholder.
Voting Rights of Common Stock
Subject to the provisions of our charter regarding restrictions on the transfer and ownership of shares of common
stock, each outstanding share of common stock entitles the holder to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of
stockholders, including the election of directors, and, except as provided with respect to any other class or series of
shares of our stock, the holders of our common stock possess the exclusive voting power. Our directors are elected by
plurality. There is no cumulative voting in the election of directors or otherwise, which means that the holders of a
majority of the outstanding shares of common stock, voting as a single class, can elect all of the directors then
standing for election.
Under Maryland law, a Maryland corporation generally cannot dissolve, amend its charter, merge, transfer all or
substantially all of its assets or engage in a share exchange unless advised by the board of directors and approved by
the affirmative vote of stockholders holding at least two-thirds of the shares entitled to vote on the matter, unless a
lesser percentage (but not less than a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter) is set forth in the
corporation’s charter. Our charter provides for approval by a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter
for the matters described in this paragraph, except that the charter requirement for a two-thirds vote to remove
directors may be amended only with approval of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast.
Dividends, Liquidation and Other Rights
All shares of common stock offered by this prospectus will be duly authorized, fully paid and non-assessable. Holders
of our shares of common stock are entitled to receive dividends when authorized by our board of directors out of
assets legally available for the payment of dividends. They also will be entitled to share ratably in our assets legally
available for distribution to our stockholders in the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, after payment
of or adequate provision for all of our known debts and liabilities. These rights are subject to the preferential rights of
any other class or series of our stock and to the provisions of our charter regarding restrictions on transfer of our stock.
Holders of our shares of common stock have no preference, conversion, exchange, sinking fund or redemption rights
and have no preemptive rights to subscribe for any of our securities. Subject to the restrictions on transfer of capital
stock contained in our charter and to the ability of the board of directors to create shares of common stock with
differing voting rights, all shares of common stock have equal dividend, liquidation and other rights.
Our charter authorizes our board of directors to reclassify any unissued shares of our common stock into other classes
or series of classes of our stock (including preferred stock), to establish the number of shares in each class or series
and to set the preferences, conversion and other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other
distributions, qualifications or terms or conditions of
11
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redemption for each such class or series. Further, our charter permits our board of directors, without stockholder
action, to amend our charter to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares of our stock with the number of
shares of any class or series of stock that we have authority to issue.
Preferred Stock
Our charter authorizes our board of directors to reclassify any unissued shares of common stock into preferred stock,
to classify any unissued shares of preferred stock and to reclassify any previously classified but unissued shares of any
series of preferred stock previously authorized by our board of directors. Prior to issuance of shares of each class or
series of preferred stock, our board will be required by Maryland law and our charter to fix the terms, preferences,
conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications
and terms or conditions of redemption for each class or series. Thus, our board could authorize the issuance of shares
of preferred stock with terms and conditions that could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a
transaction or a change of control that might involve a premium price for holders of our common stock or otherwise
be in their best interest. No shares of our preferred stock are outstanding, and we have no present plans to issue any
preferred stock.
Power to Issue Additional Shares of Common Stock and Preferred Stock
We believe that the power of our board of directors to issue additional shares of our common stock or preferred stock
and to classify or reclassify unissued shares of our common stock or preferred stock and thereafter to cause us to issue
such classified or reclassified shares of stock will provide us with increased flexibility in structuring possible future
financings and acquisitions and in meeting other needs which might arise. The additional classes or series, as well as
our common stock, will be available for issuance without further action by our stockholders, unless stockholder action
is required by applicable law or the rules of any stock exchange or automated quotation system on which our
securities may be listed or traded. Although our board of directors has no intention at the present time of doing so, it
could authorize us to issue a class or series that could, depending upon the terms of such class or series, delay, defer or
prevent a transaction or a change in control of us that might involve a premium price for holders of our common stock
or otherwise be in their best interest.
Policy on Poison Pills
We do not have a stockholders “rights plan,” which for this purpose means any arrangement pursuant to which, directly
or indirectly, common stock or preferred stock purchase rights may be distributed to stockholders that provide all
stockholders, other than persons who meet certain criteria specified in the arrangement, the right to purchase the
common stock or preferred stock at less than the prevailing market price of the common stock or preferred stock
(sometimes referred to as a “poison pill”). Our board of directors considers it unlikely that such a plan would be
considered in the future.
Our board of directors shall seek and obtain stockholder approval before adopting a poison pill; provided, however,
that the board may adopt a poison pill if, under the then circumstances, the board, including a majority of its
independent members, in its exercise of its fiduciary responsibilities, deems it to be in the best interests of the
company’s stockholders to adopt a poison pill without the delay in adoption that would come from the time reasonably
anticipated to be necessary to seek stockholder approval.
If a poison pill were to be adopted without prior stockholder approval, the poison pill will either be ratified by
stockholders or expire, without being renewed or replaced, within one year.
Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer
In order to qualify as a REIT under the Code, our shares of capital stock must be beneficially owned by 100 or more
persons during at least 335 days of a taxable year of 12 months or during a proportionate part of a shorter taxable year.
Also, no more than 50% of the value of our outstanding shares of capital stock (after taking into account options to
acquire shares of stock) may be owned, directly or constructively, by five or fewer individuals (as defined in the Code
to include certain entities). These requirements, however, are not applicable to the first taxable year in which a REIT
election is made.
12
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Because our board of directors believes that it is essential for us to qualify as a REIT, the charter, subject to certain
exceptions, contains restrictions on the number of shares of our capital stock that a person may own and prohibits
certain entities from owning our shares. Our charter provides that, subject to certain exceptions, no person, including a
“group” (as defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act, may beneficially own, or be deemed to own, by virtue of
the applicable constructive ownership provisions of the Code, more than 9.8% in value or in number of shares,
whichever is more restrictive, of the aggregate of the outstanding shares of our common stock or the aggregate of the
outstanding shares of our capital stock. Our board may, in its sole discretion, waive the ownership limit with respect to
a particular stockholder if our board is presented with evidence satisfactory to it that the ownership will not then or in
the future jeopardize our status as a REIT. In connection with our private placement in July and August 2014, our
board waived such limit in connection with the ownership by Flexpoint Great Ajax Holdings LLC (an affiliate of an
investment fund managed by Flexpoint Ford LLC, otherwise referred to as “Flexpoint REIT Investor”), investors
consisting of an investment fund for which Wellington Management Company LLP is the investment advisor
(collectively the “Wellington Investors”) and certain other investors, for up to 20% of our then outstanding common
stock plus the percentage of our common stock that such person would be deemed to beneficially own or
constructively own as a result of its ownership of an interest in the Manager and the Servicer.
Our charter also prohibits any person from (a) beneficially owning shares of our capital stock that would result in us
being “closely held” under Section 856(h) of the Code or otherwise cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT, and (b)
transferring shares of our capital stock if such transfer would result in our capital stock being owned by fewer than
100 persons. Any person who acquires or attempts or intends to acquire beneficial ownership of shares of our capital
stock that will or may violate any of the foregoing restrictions on transferability and ownership is required to give
notice immediately to us and provide us with such other information as we may request in order to determine the
effect of such transfer on our status as a REIT. The foregoing restrictions on transferability and ownership do not
apply if our board of directors determines that it is no longer in our best interests to attempt to qualify, or to continue
to qualify, as a REIT.
Our charter provides that any transfer that will result in our shares being owned by fewer than 100 persons will be
void and that any ownership or transfer of our shares in violation of the other restrictions described in the immediately
preceding paragraph will result in the shares that would result in such violation being automatically transferred to a
trust for the benefit of a charitable beneficiary, and the purported owner or transferee acquiring no rights in such
shares. If the transfer to the trust is ineffective for any reason to prevent a violation of these restrictions, the transfer
that would have resulted in such violation will be void from the outset and the purported transferee will acquire no
rights in such shares.
In addition, our charter documents limit equity participation by “benefit plan investors” so that such participation in any
class of our equity securities by such “benefit plan investors” will not be deemed “significant.” For such purposes, the
terms “benefit plan investors” and “significant” are determined by reference to certain regulations promulgated by the U.S.
Department of Labor.
Our charter also provides that to the extent that we incur or our board of directors determines that we will incur any
tax pursuant to Section 860E(c)(6) of the Code as the result of any “excess inclusion” income (within the meaning of
Section 860E of the Code), which tax is allocable to a stockholder that is a “disqualified organization” (as defined in
Section 860E(c)(5) of the Code), the our board of directors will cause us to allocate such tax solely to the stock held
by such disqualified organization in the manner described by Treasury Regulations, by reducing from one or more
distributions to be paid to such stockholder the tax incurred by us pursuant to Section 860E(c)(6) of the Code as a
result of such stockholder’s stock ownership.
All certificates representing shares of our capital stock will bear a legend referring to the restrictions described above.
Every owner of more than 5% (or such lower percentage as required by the Code or the regulations promulgated
thereunder) of all outstanding shares of our capital stock, including shares of common stock, within 30 days after the
end of each taxable year, is required to give written notice to us stating the name and address of such owner, the
number of shares of each class and series of shares of our stock which the
13
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owner beneficially owns and a description of the manner in which the shares are held. Each owner shall provide to us
such additional information as we may request in order to determine the effect, if any, of the beneficial ownership on
our status as a REIT and to ensure compliance with the ownership limitations. In addition, each stockholder shall upon
demand be required to provide to us such information as we may request, in good faith, in order to determine our
status as a REIT and to comply with the requirements of any taxing authority or governmental authority or to
determine such compliance.
These ownership limitations could delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control that might involve a
premium price for the common stock or might otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders.
Stock Exchange Listing
Our shares of common stock are listed on the NYSE under the symbol “AJX.”
Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our shares of common stock is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC.
Registration Rights
The following summary of certain provisions of our two registration rights agreements is not intended to be complete,
and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to, all of the provisions of the registration rights agreements,
which are filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. See “Where You Can Find
More Information.”
The purchasers of our common stock in our private placement in July and August 2014 are entitled to the benefits of a
registration rights agreement, dated July 8, 2014 between us and FBR Capital Markets & Co., or the “original
registration rights agreement.” Under the original registration rights agreement, we agreed, at our expense, to use our
commercially reasonable efforts to file with the SEC no later than September 30, 2014 a shelf registration statement
registering for resale the registrable shares (as defined in the original registration rights agreement) plus any additional
common stock issued in respect thereof whether by stock dividend, stock distribution, stock split, or otherwise. We
have satisfied this obligation. In connection with our private placement in December 2014, we entered into a
registration rights agreement with the purchasers therein, or the “follow-on registration rights agreement” and together
with the original registration rights agreement, the “registration rights agreements.” The follow-on registration rights
agreement is substantially identical to the original registration rights agreement except with respect to “cutback rights”
that could have been exercised in connection with our initial public offering, or IPO.
The registration statement of which this prospectus is a part is the “shelf registration statement” referred to in this
section. We refer to this registration statement as the “shelf registration statement.” We will use our commercially
reasonable efforts, subject to certain “blackout periods,” to continuously maintain the effectiveness of the shelf
registration statement under the Securities Act until the first to occur of:
•
the date on which the common stock covered by the shelf registration statement has been resold in accordance with
the shelf registration statement;
​
•
the date on which the common stock covered by the shelf registration statement either has been transferred pursuant to
Rule 144 (or any successor or analogous rule) under the Securities Act or are eligible for resale, without any volume
or manner-of-sale restrictions or compliance by us with any current public information requirements, pursuant to Rule
144; and
​
•
the date on which the common stock covered by the shelf registration statement has been sold to us or ceases to be
outstanding.
​
​
14

Edgar Filing: ASSOCIATED ESTATES REALTY CORP - Form 10-Q

38



TABLE OF CONTENTS
We will bear certain expenses incident to our registration obligations upon exercise of these registration rights,
including the payment of U.S. federal securities law and state “blue sky” registration fees, except that we will not bear
any brokers’ or underwriters’ discounts and commissions or transfer taxes relating to sales of our common stock. We
will agree to indemnify each selling stockholder for certain violations of U.S. federal or state securities laws in
connection with any registration statement in which such selling stockholder sells its common stock pursuant to these
registration rights. Each selling stockholder will in turn agree to indemnify us for U.S. federal or state securities law
violations that occur in reliance upon written information it provides for us in the registration statement.
15
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CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF MARYLAND LAW AND OUR CHARTER AND BYLAWS
The following description of certain provisions of Maryland law and of our charter and bylaws is only a summary. For
a complete description, we refer you to the applicable Maryland law, our charter and our bylaws.
Number of Directors; Vacancies
Our charter and bylaws provide that the initial number of directors shall be one and that the number of our directors
may only be increased or decreased by a vote of a majority of the members of our board of directors; provided that the
number of directors may not be less than the minimum required by Maryland law nor more than 15. Since the
completion of our IPO, our board of directors has consisted of seven members.
Upon such time as we are eligible to make an election under Subtitle 8 of Title 3 of the MGCL, subject to the terms of
any class or series of preferred stock, vacancies on our board of directors may be filled only by a majority of the
remaining directors, even if the remaining directors do not constitute a quorum.
Except as may be provided with respect to any class or series of our stock, at each annual meeting of our stockholders,
each of our directors will be elected by our stockholders to serve until the next annual meeting of our stockholders and
until his or her successor is duly elected and qualifies. A plurality of the votes cast in the election of directors is
sufficient to elect a director, and holders of shares of common stock will have no right to cumulative voting in the
election of directors. Consequently, at each annual meeting of stockholders, the holders of a majority of the shares of
common stock entitled to vote will be able to elect all of our directors at any annual meeting.
Removal of Directors
Our charter provides that a director may be removed only with cause and upon the affirmative vote of at least
two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast in the election of directors. Our charter defines cause, for the purpose of
removal of directors, to mean, with respect to a director, conviction of a felony or a judgment of a court that such
director caused demonstrable, material harm to us through bad faith or active and deliberate dishonesty. Absent
removal of all of our directors, this provision, when coupled with the provision of our charter making an election
under Subtitle 8 of Title 3 of the MGCL permitting only our board of directors to fill vacant directorships, may
preclude stockholders from removing incumbent directors and filling the vacancies created by such removal with their
own nominees.
Business Combinations
Maryland law prohibits “business combinations” between us and an interested stockholder or an affiliate of an interested
stockholder for five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder becomes an interested
stockholder. These business combinations include a merger, consolidation, share exchange, or, in circumstances
specified in the statute, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities. Maryland law defines an
interested stockholder as:
•
any person or entity who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of our stock; or
​
•
an affiliate or associate of ours who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was the
beneficial owner of 10% or more of the voting power of our then outstanding voting stock.
​
A person is not an interested stockholder if our board of directors approves in advance the transaction by which the
person otherwise would have become an interested stockholder. However, in approving a transaction, our board of
directors may provide that its approval is subject to compliance, at or after the time of approval, with any terms and
conditions determined by our board of directors.
16
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After the five-year period, any business combination between us and an interested stockholder generally must be
recommended by our board of directors and approved by the affirmative vote of at least:
•
80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of our then outstanding shares of capital stock; and
​
•
two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of our voting stock other than shares held by the interested
stockholder with whom or with whose affiliate the business combination is to be effected or stock held by an affiliate
or associate of the interested stockholder.
​
These super-majority vote requirements do not apply if our common stockholders receive a minimum price, as defined
under Maryland law, for their shares in the form of cash or other consideration in the same form as previously paid by
the interested stockholder for its stock.
The statute permits various exemptions from its provisions, including business combinations that are approved by our
board of directors before the time that the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder.
Pursuant to the MGCL, our board of directors has by resolution exempted business combinations between us and any
other person from these provisions of the MGCL, provided that the business combination is first approved by our
board of directors and, consequently, the five-year prohibition and the supermajority vote requirements will not apply
to such business combinations. As a result, any person may be able to enter into business combinations with us in
whole or in part at any time. According to resolutions of our board of directors, we are not permitted to opt back in to
these provisions without the approval of the holders of a majority of our shares of common stock. If this resolution
were repealed or rescinded with approval by a vote of our stockholders, or our board of directors does not otherwise
approve a business combination, the business combination statute may discourage others from trying to acquire
control of us and increase the difficulty of consummating any offer.
Control Share Acquisitions
Maryland law provides that “control shares” of a Maryland corporation acquired in a “control share acquisition” have no
voting rights unless approved by a vote of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Shares owned by
the acquirer or by officers or directors who are our employees are excluded from the shares entitled to vote on the
matter. “Control shares” are voting shares that, if aggregated with all other shares previously acquired by the acquiring
person, or in respect of which the acquiring person is able to exercise or direct the exercise of voting power (except
solely by virtue of a revocable proxy), would entitle the acquiring person to exercise voting power in electing directors
within one of the following ranges of voting power:
•
one-tenth or more but less than one-third;
​
•
one-third or more but less than a majority; or
​
•
a majority or more of all voting power.
​
Control shares do not include shares the acquiring person is then entitled to vote as a result of having previously
obtained stockholder approval. A “control share acquisition” means the acquisition of control shares, subject to certain
exceptions.
A person who has made or proposes to make a control share acquisition of our stock may compel our board of
directors to call a special meeting of stockholders to be held within 50 days of demand to consider the voting rights of
the shares. The right to compel the calling of a special meeting is subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions,
including an undertaking to pay the expenses of the meeting. If no request for a meeting is made, we may present the
question at any stockholders’ meeting.
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If voting rights are not approved at the stockholders’ meeting or if the acquiring person does not deliver an acquiring
person statement required by Maryland law, then, subject to certain conditions and limitations, we may redeem any or
all of the control shares, except those for which voting rights have previously been approved, for fair value. Fair value
is determined without regard to the absence of voting rights for the control shares, as of the date of the last control
share acquisition or of any meeting of
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stockholders at which the voting rights of the shares were considered and not approved. If voting rights for control
shares are approved at a stockholders’ meeting, the acquirer may then vote a majority of the shares entitled to vote, and
all other stockholders may exercise appraisal rights. The fair value of the shares for purposes of these appraisal rights
may not be less than the highest price per share paid by the acquirer in the control share acquisition. The control share
acquisition statute does not apply to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share exchange if we are a party to
the transaction, nor does it apply to acquisitions approved by or exempted by our charter or bylaws.
Our bylaws contain a provision exempting any and all acquisitions of our shares of stock from the control shares
provisions of Maryland law. We may not opt back in to this provision without the approval of the holders of a
majority of our shares of common stock.
Maryland Unsolicited Takeovers Act
The Maryland Unsolicited Takeovers Act, or the “MUTA,” permits a Maryland corporation with a class of equity
securities registered under the Exchange Act and at least three independent directors to elect to be subject, by
provision in its charter or bylaws or a resolution of its board of directors and notwithstanding any contrary provision
in the charter or bylaws, to any or all of its five provisions, which provide that:
•
the corporation’s board of directors will be divided into three classes;
​
•
the affirmative vote of two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast by stockholders generally in the election of
directors is required to remove a director;
​
•
the number of directors may be fixed only by vote of the directors;
​
•
a vacancy on the board of directors may be filled only by the remaining directors and that directors elected to fill a
vacancy will serve for the remainder of the full term of the class of directors in which the vacancy occurred; and
​
•
the request of stockholders entitled to cast at least a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast at the meeting is
required for stockholders to require the calling of a special meeting of stockholders.
​
A board of directors may implement all or any of those provisions without amending the charter or bylaws and
without stockholder approval. The corporation may be prohibited by its charter or by resolution of its board of
directors from electing any of the provisions of the statute. Our charter provides that we will not elect to be subject to
the provisions of the MUTA pursuant to which our board of directors would be divided into three classes. That
prohibition in our charter may not be repealed unless the repeal, or classification of our directors, is approved by our
stockholders by a vote of at least a majority of the votes entitled to be cast. We are not prohibited from implementing
any other provision of the statute. Our charter provides an election by us into certain provisions of the statute in order
that, except as may be provided by our board of directors in setting the terms of any class of preferred stock, any
vacancies on the board may be filled only by a majority of the directors then in office, even if less than a quorum, and
a director elected to fill a vacancy will serve for the balance of the unexpired term.
Amendment of Charter
Except for amendments to the provisions of our charter relating to the removal of directors and the vote required to
amend these provisions (each of which must be advised by our board of directors and approved by the affirmative vote
of stockholders entitled to cast not less than two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter), our charter
generally may be amended only if advised by our board of directors and approved by the affirmative vote of
stockholders entitled to cast a majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter.
Our board of directors has the exclusive power to adopt, alter or repeal any provision of our bylaws and to make new
bylaws and the vote required to amend such provisions, must be approved by the holders of at least three-fourths of
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our Manager and the Servicer and any shares of our common stock held by our directors and executive officers).
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Limitation of Liability and Indemnification
Maryland law permits a Maryland corporation to include in its charter a provision limiting liability of its directors and
officers to the corporation and its stockholders for money damages, but not any provision that limits the liability of
directors or officers to the corporation or its stockholders:
•
to the extent that it is proved that the person actually received an improper benefit or profit in money, property or
services; or
​
•
to the extent that a judgment adverse to the person is entered based on a finding that the person’s action, or failure to
act, was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty and was material to the cause of action.
​
Our charter limits the liability of our directors and officers to us and our stockholders for money damages to the
maximum extent permitted by Maryland law.
Our charter provides that we have the power, to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law, to indemnify, and to
pay or reimburse reasonable expenses to, any of our present or former directors or officers or any individual who,
while a director or officer and at our request, serves or has served another entity, employee benefit plan or any other
enterprise as a director, officer, partner or otherwise. Our bylaws require us, to the maximum extent permitted by
Maryland law, to indemnify each present or former director or officer who is made a party to a proceeding by reason
of his or her service to us.
Maryland law will permit us to indemnify our present and former directors and officers against judgments, penalties,
fines, settlements and reasonable expenses actually incurred by them in connection with any proceeding to which they
are made a party by reason of service to us, unless it is established that:
•
the act or omission of the director or officer was material to the matter giving rise to the proceeding and (i) was
committed in bad faith or (ii) was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty;
​
•
the director or officer actually received an improper personal benefit in money, property or services; or
​
•
in the case of a criminal proceeding, the director or officer had reasonable cause to believe that the act or omission
was unlawful.
​
However, Maryland law will prohibit us from indemnifying our present and former directors and officers for an
adverse judgment in a derivative action or if the director or officer was adjudged to be liable for an improper personal
benefit. Further, a director or officer may not be indemnified for a proceeding brought by that person against us,
except (i) for a proceeding brought to enforce indemnification or (ii) if the charter or bylaws, a resolution of the board
of directors or an agreement approved by the board of directors to which the corporation is a party expressly provide
otherwise, none of which is applicable to us.
Our bylaws and Maryland law will require us, as a condition to advancing expenses in certain circumstances, to
obtain:
•
a written affirmation by the director or officer of his or her good faith belief that he or she has met the standard of
conduct necessary for indemnification; and
​
•
a written undertaking by him or her to repay the amount reimbursed by us if the requisite standard of conduct is not
met.
​
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We generally will be prohibited from engaging in certain activities, including acquiring or holding any asset or
engaging in any activity that would cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT.
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Term and Termination
Our charter provides for us to have a perpetual existence. Pursuant to our charter, and subject to the provisions of any
of our classes or series of shares of capital stock then outstanding and the approval by a majority of the entire board of
directors, our stockholders, at any meeting thereof, by the affirmative vote of a majority of all of the votes entitled to
be cast on the matter, may approve a plan of liquidation and dissolution.
Meetings of Stockholders
Under our bylaws, annual meetings of stockholders are to be held upon reasonable notice and not less than 30 days
after delivery of our annual report as determined by our board of directors. Special meetings of stockholders may be
called only by a majority of the directors then in office, by the Chairman of our board of directors, our President or
our Secretary upon the written request of the holders of common stock entitled to cast not less than a majority of all
votes entitled to be cast at such meeting. Only matters set forth in the notice of the special meeting may be considered
and acted upon at such a meeting.
Maryland law provides that stockholder action can be taken only at an annual or special meeting of stockholders or by
unanimous consent in lieu of a meeting (unless the charter permits the consent to be less than unanimous, which our
charter does not).
Advance Notice of Director Nominations and New Business
Our bylaws provide that, with respect to an annual meeting of stockholders, nominations of persons for election to our
board of directors and the proposal of business to be considered by stockholders at the annual meeting may be made
only:
•
pursuant to our notice of the meeting;
​
•
by our board of directors; or
​
•
by a stockholder who was a stockholder of record both at the time of the provision of notice and at the time of the
meeting who is entitled to vote at the meeting and has complied with the advance notice procedures set forth in our
bylaws.
​
With respect to special meetings of stockholders, only the business specified in our notice of meeting may be brought
before the meeting of stockholders and nominations of persons for election to our board of directors may be made
only:
•
pursuant to our notice of the meeting;
​
•
by our board of directors; or
​
•
provided that our board of directors has determined that directors shall be elected at such meeting, by a stockholder
who was a stockholder of record both at the time of the provision of notice and at the time of the meeting who is
entitled to vote at the meeting and has complied with the advance notice provisions set forth in our bylaws.
​
The purpose of requiring stockholders to give advance notice of nominations and other proposals is to afford our
board of directors the opportunity to consider the qualifications of the proposed nominees or the advisability of the
other proposals and, to the extent considered necessary by our board of directors, to inform stockholders and make
recommendations regarding the nominations or other proposals. The advance notice procedures also permit a more
orderly procedure for conducting our stockholder meetings. Although our bylaws will not give our board of directors
the power to disapprove timely stockholder nominations and proposals, they may have the effect of precluding a
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contest for the election of directors or proposals for other action if the proper procedures are not followed, and of
discouraging or deterring a third party from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect its own slate of directors to
our board of directors or to approve its own proposal.
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No Approval Rights
In certain extraordinary transactions, Maryland law provides to dissenting stockholders the right to demand and
receive the fair value of their shares, subject to certain procedures and requirements set forth in the statute. Those
rights are commonly referred to as appraisal rights. Except with respect to appraisal rights arising in connection with
Maryland’s control share acquisition statute discussed above, as permitted by Maryland law, our charter provides that
stockholders will not be entitled to exercise appraisal rights unless our board of directors determines that such rights
apply to a subsequently occurring transaction in connection with which stockholders would otherwise be entitled to
appraisal rights under Maryland law.
Possible Anti-Takeover Effect of Certain Provisions of Maryland Law and of Our Charter and Bylaws
The business combination provision and control share acquisition provisions of Maryland law (if the applicable
provision in our bylaws is rescinded), the provisions of our charter on the removal of directors and the restrictions on
the transfer of shares of our stock, and the advance notice provisions of our bylaws could have the effect of delaying,
deterring or preventing a transaction or a change in the control that might involve a premium price for holders of the
shares of common stock or might otherwise be in their best interest.
21
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MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS
This section summarizes the material U.S. federal income tax considerations that a prospective stockholder may
consider relevant. Because this section is a summary, it does not address all aspects of taxation that may be relevant to
particular stockholders in light of their personal investment or tax circumstances, or to certain types of stockholders
that are subject to special treatment under the U.S. federal income tax laws, such as:
•
insurance companies;
​
•
tax-exempt organizations, tax-deferred and tax-advantaged accounts;
​
•
financial institutions or broker-dealers;
​
•
non-U.S. individuals and non-U.S. corporations (except to the extent discussed in “— Taxation of Non-U.S. Holders” or “—
Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act” below);
​
•
U.S. expatriates;
​
•
persons who mark-to-market our shares of common stock;
​
•
subchapter S corporations;
​
•
U.S. stockholders (as defined below) whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar;
​
•
regulated investment companies and REITs, and their investors;
​
•
trusts and estates (except to the extent discussed herein);
​
•
persons who receive our shares of common stock through the exercise of employee stock options or otherwise as
compensation;
​
•
persons holding our shares of common stock as part of a “straddle,” “hedge,” “conversion transaction,” “synthetic security” or
other integrated investment;
​
•
persons subject to the alternative minimum tax provisions of the Code;
​
•
persons holding our shares of common stock through a partnership or similar pass-through entity; and
​
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•
persons holding a 10% or more (by vote or value) beneficial interest in our shares of common stock.
​
This summary assumes that stockholders hold our shares of common stock as capital assets for U.S. federal income
tax purposes, which generally means as property held for investment.
The statements in this section are not intended to be, and should not be construed as, tax advice. The statements in this
section are based on the Code, current, temporary and proposed Treasury Regulations, the legislative history of the
Code, current administrative interpretations and practices of the IRS, and court decisions. The reference to IRS
interpretations and practices includes the IRS practices and policies endorsed in private letter rulings, which are not
binding on the IRS except with respect to the taxpayer that receives the ruling. In each case, these sources are relied
upon as they exist on the date of this discussion. Future legislation, Treasury Regulations, administrative
interpretations and court decisions could change current law or adversely affect existing interpretations of current law
on which the information in this section is based. Any such change could apply retroactively. We have not received
any rulings from the IRS concerning our intention to qualify as a REIT. Accordingly, even if there is no change in the
applicable law, no assurance can be provided that the statements made in the following discussion, which do not bind
the IRS or the courts, will not be challenged by the IRS or will be sustained by a court if so challenged.
WE URGE YOU TO CONSULT YOUR OWN TAX ADVISER REGARDING THE SPECIFIC TAX
CONSEQUENCES TO YOU OF THE PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP AND SALE OF OUR SHARES OF COMMON
STOCK AND OF OUR ELECTION TO BE TAXED AS A REIT. SPECIFICALLY, YOU SHOULD CONSULT
YOUR OWN TAX ADVISER REGARDING THE U.S. FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL, FOREIGN, AND OTHER
TAX CONSEQUENCES OF SUCH PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP, SALE AND ELECTION, AND REGARDING
POTENTIAL CHANGES IN APPLICABLE TAX LAWS.
22
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Taxation of Our Company
We elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code commencing with our short taxable
year ended December 31, 2014. We believe that, commencing with our short taxable year ended December 31, 2014,
we have been organized and have operated in such a manner as to qualify for taxation as a REIT under the U.S.
federal income tax laws, and we intend to continue to operate in such a manner, but no assurances can be given that
we will operate in a manner so as to qualify or remain qualified as a REIT. This section discusses the laws governing
the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a REIT and its stockholders. These laws are highly technical and complex.
In connection with this offering, Morrison & Foerster LLP will render an opinion that, commencing with our taxable
year ended December 31, 2014, we were organized and operated in conformity with the requirements for qualification
and taxation as a REIT under the Code, and our current and proposed method of operation will have permitted us to
continue to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT for our taxable year ended December 31,
2015, and will enable us to continue to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT for our taxable
year ending December 31, 2016 and subsequent taxable years. Investors should be aware that Morrison & Foerster
LLP’s opinion is based upon customary assumptions, will be conditioned upon certain representations made by us as to
factual matters, including representations regarding the nature of our assets and the conduct of our business, is not
binding upon the IRS, or any court and speaks as of the date issued. In addition, Morrison & Foerster LLP’s opinion
will be based on existing U.S. federal income tax law governing qualification as a REIT, which is subject to change
either prospectively or retroactively. Moreover, our qualification and taxation as a REIT depends upon our ability to
meet on a continuing basis, through actual results, certain qualification tests set forth in the U.S. federal income tax
laws. Those qualification tests involve the percentage of income that we earn from specified sources, the percentage of
our assets that falls within specified categories, the diversity of our capital stock ownership, and the percentage of our
earnings that we distribute. Morrison & Foerster LLP will not review our compliance with those tests on a continuing
basis. Accordingly, no assurance can be given that our actual results of operations for any particular taxable year will
satisfy such requirements. Our ability to satisfy the REIT qualification tests will depend upon our analysis of the
characterization and fair market values of our assets, some of which will not be susceptible to a precise determination,
and for which we will not obtain independent appraisals. Our compliance with the REIT income and quarterly asset
requirements also depends upon our ability to successfully manage the composition of our income and assets on an
ongoing basis (which, based on the types of assets we will own, could fluctuate rapidly, significantly and
unpredictably). In addition, we will be required to make estimates of or otherwise determine the value of real property
that is collateral for our mortgage loan assets. There can be no assurance that the IRS would not challenge our
valuations or valuation estimates of this collateral. For a discussion of the tax consequences of our failure to qualify as
a REIT, see “Risk Factors — Risks Related to this Offering — Failure to Qualify.”
If we qualify as a REIT, we generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our REIT taxable income that
we currently distribute to our stockholders, but taxable income generated by any domestic TRS will be subject to
regular corporate income tax. However, we will be subject to U.S. federal tax in the following circumstances:
•
We will pay U.S. federal income tax on our taxable income, including net capital gain, that we do not distribute to
stockholders during, or within a specified time period after, the calendar year in which the income is earned.
​
•
We may be subject to the “alternative minimum tax” on any items of tax preference, including any deductions of net
operating losses, that we do not distribute or allocate to stockholders.
​
•
We will pay income tax at the highest corporate rate on:
​
◦
net income from the sale or other disposition of property acquired through foreclosure, or foreclosure property, that
we hold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, and
​
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◦
other non-qualifying income from foreclosure property.
​
​
23

Edgar Filing: ASSOCIATED ESTATES REALTY CORP - Form 10-Q

53



TABLE OF CONTENTS
•
We will pay a 100% tax on net income earned from sales or other dispositions of property, other than foreclosure
property, that we hold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business.
​
•
If we fail to satisfy the 75% gross income test or the 95% gross income test, as described below under “— Gross Income
Tests,” but nonetheless continue to qualify as a REIT because we meet other requirements, we will be subject to a
100% tax on:
​
◦
the greater of the amount by which we fail the 75% gross income test or the 95% gross income test, multiplied, in
either case, by
​
◦
a fraction intended to reflect our profitability.
​
•
If we fail to satisfy the asset tests (other than a de minimis failure of the 5% asset test, the 10% vote test or the 10%
value test, as described below under “— Asset Tests”), as long as the failure was due to reasonable cause and not to willful
neglect, we dispose of the assets or otherwise comply with such asset tests within six months after the last day of the
quarter in which we identify such failure and we file a schedule with the IRS describing the assets that caused such
failure, we will pay a tax equal to the greater of  $50,000 or the product of the highest U.S. federal corporate tax rate
(currently, 35%) and the net income from the non-qualifying assets during the period in which we failed to satisfy
such asset tests.
​
•
If we fail to satisfy one or more requirements for REIT qualification, other than the gross income tests and the asset
tests, and the failure was due to reasonable cause and not to willful neglect, we will be required to pay a penalty of 
$50,000 for each such failure.
​
•
We may be required to pay monetary penalties to the IRS in certain circumstances, including if we fail to meet
recordkeeping requirements intended to monitor our compliance with rules relating to the composition of a REIT’s
stockholders, as described below in “— Requirements for Qualification.”
​
•
If we fail to distribute during a calendar year at least the sum of: (i) 85% of our REIT ordinary income for the year, (ii)
95% of our REIT capital gain net income for the year and (iii) any undistributed taxable income from earlier periods,
we will pay a 4% nondeductible excise tax on the excess of the required distribution over the amount we actually
distributed, plus any retained amounts on which income tax has been paid at the corporate level.
​
•
We may elect to retain and pay income tax on our net long-term capital gain. In that case, a U.S. stockholder would be
taxed on its proportionate share of our undistributed long-term capital gain (to the extent that we make a timely
designation of such gain to the stockholder) and would receive a credit or refund for its proportionate share of the tax
we paid.
​
•
We will be subject to a 100% excise tax on transactions between us and a TRS that are not conducted on an
arms’-length basis.
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​
•
The earnings of our TRSs will be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax.
​
•
If we acquire any asset from a C corporation, or a corporation that generally is subject to full corporate-level tax, in a
merger or other transaction in which we acquire a basis in the asset that is determined by reference either to the C
corporation’s basis in the asset or to another asset, we will pay tax at the highest regular corporate rate applicable if we
recognize gain on the sale or disposition of the asset during the 5-year period after we acquire the asset. The amount of
gain on which we will pay tax is the lesser of:
​
◦
the amount of gain that we recognize at the time of the sale or disposition, and
​
◦
the amount of gain that we would have recognized if we had sold the asset at the time we acquired it, assuming that
the C corporation will not elect, in lieu of this treatment, to be subject to an immediate tax when the asset is acquired.
​
•
If we derive “excess inclusion income” from an interest in certain mortgage loan securitization structures (i.e., from a
TMP, or a residual interest in a real estate mortgage investment conduit, or
​
​
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REMIC), we could be subject to corporate level U.S. federal income tax (currently at a 35% rate) to the extent that
such income is allocable to specified types of tax-exempt stockholders known as “disqualified organizations” that are
not subject to unrelated business income tax. To the extent that we own a REMIC residual interest or a TMP through a
TRS, we will not be subject to this tax directly, but all of the income from the investment will be subject to U.S.
federal income tax at the TRS level. See “— Taxable Mortgage Pools and Excess Inclusion Income” below.
In addition, notwithstanding our qualification as a REIT, we may also have to pay certain state and local income taxes,
because not all states and localities treat REITs in the same manner that they are treated for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. Moreover, as further described below, any domestic TRS in which we may own an interest will be subject
to U.S. federal, state and local corporate income tax on its taxable income. In addition, we may be subject to a variety
of taxes other than U.S. federal income tax, including state and local franchise, property and other taxes and foreign
taxes. We could also be subject to tax in situations and on transactions not presently contemplated.
Requirements for Qualification
A REIT is a corporation, trust, or association that meets each of the following requirements:
1.
It is managed by one or more trustees or directors.
​
2.
Its beneficial ownership is evidenced by transferable shares or by transferable certificates of beneficial interest.
​
3.
It would be taxable as a domestic corporation, but for the REIT provisions of the U.S. federal income tax laws.
​
4.
It is neither a financial institution nor an insurance company subject to special provisions of the U.S. federal income
tax laws.
​
5.
At least 100 persons are beneficial owners (determined without reference to any rules of attribution) of its shares or
ownership certificates.
​
6.
Not more than 50% in value of its outstanding shares or ownership certificates is owned, directly or indirectly, by five
or fewer individuals, which the U.S. federal income tax laws define to include certain entities, during the last half of
any taxable year.
​
7.
It elects to be taxed as a REIT, or has made such election for a previous taxable year, and satisfies all relevant filing
and other administrative requirements that must be met to elect and maintain REIT qualification.
​
8.
It meets certain other qualification tests, described below, regarding the nature of its income and assets and the
distribution of its income.
​
9.
It uses the calendar year as its taxable year.
​
10.
It has no earnings and profits from any non-REIT taxable year at the close of any taxable year.
​
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We must meet requirements 1 through 4 and 7 through 10 during our entire taxable year and must meet requirement 5
during at least 335 days of a taxable year of twelve months, or during a proportionate part of a taxable year of less
than twelve months. Requirements 5 and 6 apply to us beginning with our 2015 taxable year. If we comply with all the
requirements for ascertaining the ownership of our outstanding shares in a taxable year and have no reason to know
that we violated requirement 6, we will be deemed to have satisfied requirement 6 for that taxable year. For purposes
of determining share ownership under requirement 6, an “individual” generally includes a supplemental unemployment
compensation benefits plan, a private foundation, or a portion of a trust permanently set aside or used exclusively for
charitable purposes. An “individual” generally does not include a trust that is a qualified employee pension or profit
sharing trust under the U.S. federal income tax laws, however, and beneficiaries of such a trust will be treated as
holding our shares in proportion to their actuarial interests in the trust for purposes of requirement 6.
25
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We believe that we will issue shares with sufficient diversity of ownership to satisfy requirements 5 and 6. In addition,
our charter restricts the ownership and transfer of our shares so that we should continue to satisfy these requirements.
These restrictions, however, may not ensure that we will, in all cases, be able to satisfy these share ownership
requirements. If we fail to satisfy these share ownership requirements, our qualification as a REIT may terminate. The
provisions of our charter restricting the ownership and transfer of the shares are described in “Description of Capital
Stock — Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer.”
To monitor compliance with the share ownership requirements, we generally will be required to maintain records
regarding the actual ownership of our shares. To do so, we must demand written statements each year from the record
holders of significant percentages of our shares pursuant to which the record holders must disclose the actual owners
of the shares (i.e., the persons required to include our dividends in their gross income). We must maintain a list of
those persons failing or refusing to comply with this demand as part of our records. We could be subject to monetary
penalties if we fail to comply with these record-keeping requirements. If you fail or refuse to comply with the
demands, you will be required by Treasury Regulations to submit a statement with your tax return disclosing your
actual ownership of our shares and other information. In addition, we must satisfy all relevant filing and other
administrative requirements that must be met to elect and maintain REIT status. We intend to comply with these
requirements.
Qualified REIT Subsidiaries
A corporation that is a “qualified REIT subsidiary” is not treated as a corporation separate from its parent REIT. All
assets, liabilities, and items of income, deduction, and credit of a qualified REIT subsidiary are treated as assets,
liabilities, and items of income, deduction, and credit of the REIT. A qualified REIT subsidiary is a corporation, other
than a TRS, all of the shares of which are owned, directly or through one or more qualified REIT subsidiaries or
disregarded entities, by the REIT. Thus, in applying the requirements described herein, any qualified REIT subsidiary
that we own will be ignored, and all assets, liabilities, and items of income, deduction, and credit of such subsidiary
will be treated as our assets, liabilities, and items of income, deduction, and credit.
Other Disregarded Entities and Partnerships
An unincorporated domestic entity, such as a limited liability company, that has a single owner generally is not treated
as an entity separate from its parent for U.S. federal income tax purposes. An unincorporated domestic entity with two
or more owners generally is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In the case of a REIT that is
a partner in a partnership that has other partners, the REIT is treated as owning its proportionate share of the assets of
the partnership and as earning its allocable share of the gross income of the partnership for purposes of the applicable
REIT qualification tests. For purposes of the 10% value test (see “— Asset Tests”), our proportionate share is based on our
proportionate interest in the equity interests and certain debt securities issued by the partnership. For all of the other
asset and income tests, our proportionate share is based on our proportionate interest in the capital interests in the
partnership. Our proportionate share of the assets, liabilities, and items of income of any partnership, joint venture, or
limited liability company that is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes in which we acquire an
interest, directly or indirectly, will be treated as our assets and gross income for purposes of applying the various
REIT qualification requirements.
In the event that a disregarded subsidiary of ours ceases to be wholly-owned — for example, if any equity interest in the
subsidiary is acquired by a person other than us or another disregarded subsidiary of ours — the subsidiary’s separate
existence would no longer be disregarded for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Instead, the subsidiary would have
multiple owners and would be treated as either a partnership or a taxable corporation. Such an event could, depending
on the circumstances, adversely affect our ability to satisfy the various asset and gross income requirements applicable
to REITs, including the requirement that REITs generally may not own, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the
total value or total voting power of the outstanding securities of another corporation. See “— Asset Tests” and “— Gross
Income Tests.”
26

Edgar Filing: ASSOCIATED ESTATES REALTY CORP - Form 10-Q

58



TABLE OF CONTENTS
Ownership of Subsidiary REITs
Our operating partnership may own 100% of the common stock in one or more of our subsidiaries that will elect to be
taxed as REITs, which we refer to as “Subsidiary REITs.” We may use the Subsidiary REITs for various purposes,
including to execute non-REMIC securitization transactions that are treated as TMPs, as described in “— Taxable
Mortgage Pools and Excess Inclusion Income.”
Any Subsidiary REIT will be subject to the various REIT qualification requirements and other limitations described
that apply to us. We believe that any Subsidiary REIT will be organized and will operated in a manner to permit it to
qualify for taxation as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes from and after the effective date of its REIT
election. However, if any Subsidiary REIT were to fail to qualify as a REIT, then (i) the Subsidiary REIT would
become subject to regular corporate income tax as described in “— Failure to Qualify,” and (ii) our ownership of shares of
common stock in the Subsidiary REIT would not be a qualifying real estate asset for purposes of the 75% asset test
and would become subject to the 5% asset test, the 10% vote test, and the 10% value test generally applicable to our
ownership in corporations other than REITs, qualified REIT subsidiaries and TRSs. See “— Asset Tests.” If a Subsidiary
REIT were to fail to qualify as a REIT, it is possible that we would not meet the 10% vote test and the 5% asset test,
10% value test with respect to our indirect interest in such entity, in which event we would fail to qualify as a REIT
unless we could avail ourselves of certain relief provisions, as described in “— Asset Tests.”
Taxable REIT Subsidiaries
A REIT is permitted to own up to 100% of the stock of one or more TRSs. A TRS is a fully taxable corporation that
may earn income that would not be qualifying income if earned directly by the parent REIT. The subsidiary and the
REIT must jointly elect to treat the subsidiary as a TRS. A corporation with respect to which a TRS directly or
indirectly owns more than 35% of the voting power or value of the outstanding securities will automatically be treated
as a TRS. However, an entity will not qualify as a TRS if it directly or indirectly operates or manages a lodging or
health care facility or, generally, provides to another person, under a franchise, license or otherwise, rights to any
brand name under which any lodging facility or health care facility is operated. We generally may not own more than
10%, as measured by voting power or value, of the securities of a corporation that is not a qualified REIT subsidiary
or a REIT unless we and such corporation elect to treat such corporation as a TRS. Overall, no more than 25% (or,
beginning January 1, 2018, 20%) of the value of a REIT’s assets may consist of stock or securities of one or more
TRSs.
The separate existence of a TRS or other taxable corporation, unlike a disregarded subsidiary as discussed above, is
not ignored for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Accordingly, a domestic TRS would generally be subject to
corporate income tax on its earnings, which may reduce the cash flow generated by us and our subsidiaries in the
aggregate and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.
A REIT is not treated as holding the assets of a TRS or other taxable subsidiary corporation or as receiving any
income that the subsidiary earns. Rather, the stock issued by the subsidiary is an asset in the hands of the REIT, and
the REIT generally recognizes as income the dividends, if any, that it receives from the subsidiary. This treatment can
affect the gross income and asset test calculations that apply to the REIT, as described below. Because a parent REIT
does not include the assets and income of such subsidiary corporations in determining the parent REIT’s compliance
with the REIT requirements, such entities may be used by the parent REIT to undertake indirectly activities that the
REIT rules might otherwise preclude it from doing directly or through pass-through subsidiaries or render
commercially unfeasible (for example, activities that give rise to certain categories of income such as non-qualifying
hedging income or inventory sales).
Certain restrictions imposed on TRSs are intended to ensure that such entities will be subject to appropriate levels of
U.S. federal income taxation. First, a TRS may not deduct interest payments made in any year to an affiliated REIT to
the extent that such payments exceed, generally, 50% of the TRS’s adjusted taxable income for that year (although the
TRS may carry forward to, and deduct in, a succeeding year the disallowed interest amount if the 50% test is satisfied
in that year). In addition, if amounts are paid to a REIT or deducted by a TRS due to transactions between a REIT, its
tenants and/or a TRS, that exceed
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the amount that would be paid to or deducted by a party in an arms’-length transaction, the REIT generally will be
subject to an excise tax equal to 100% of such excess. Similarly, if amounts are paid to a TRS for services provided to
or on behalf of its parent REIT and such amounts are less than the amount that would be paid to a party in an
arms’-length transaction, the REIT generally will be subject to an excise tax equal to 100% of such deficiency. We
intend that all of our transactions with Thetis TRS, GAJX Real Estate LLC and any other TRS that we may form will
be conducted on an arms’-length basis, but there can be no assurance that we will be successful in this regard.
We have elected to treat Thetis TRS and GAJX Real Estate LLC as TRSs and we may form or invest in additional
domestic or foreign TRSs in the future. We may also use a TRS, including GAJX Real Estate LLC, to market and sell
distressed mortgage loans and property acquired upon foreclosure of those loans, and may modify loans through a
TRS. We intend to market and sell mortgage loans and the related foreclosed property through a TRS when the sale of
those assets directly by us or our operating partnership may be subject to the 100% prohibited transactions tax. See “—
Gross Income Tests — Prohibited Transactions.” We anticipate that our marketing and sales of loans and the related
foreclosed property will generally be conducted through a TRS.
It is possible that such TRS will be treated as a dealer for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In that case, such TRS
will generally mark all the loans it holds on the last day of each taxable year, if any, to their market value, and will
recognize ordinary income or loss on such loans with respect to such taxable year as if they had been sold for that
value on that day. If we significantly modify mortgage loans in a TRS and determine that such TRS qualifies as a
trader, but not a dealer, for tax purposes, such TRS may elect to be subject to similar “mark-to-market” rules that apply
to electing traders.
A TRS may also provide services with respect to our properties to the extent we determine that having a TRS provide
those services will assist us in complying with the gross income tests applicable to REITs. See “— Gross Income Tests —
Rents From Real Property.”
To the extent that our TRSs pay any taxes, they will have less cash available for distribution to us. If dividends are
paid by domestic TRSs to us, then the dividends we designate and pay to our stockholders who are taxed at individual
rates, up to the amount of dividends that we receive from such entities, generally will be eligible to be taxed at the
reduced 20% maximum U.S. federal rate applicable to qualified dividend income. See “— Taxation of U.S. Holders —
Taxation of Taxable U.S. Holders on Distributions on Shares.”
Gross Income Tests
We must satisfy two gross income tests annually to qualify and maintain our qualification as a REIT. First, at least
75% of our gross income for each taxable year must consist of defined types of income that we derive, directly or
indirectly, from investments relating to real property or mortgage loans on real property or qualified temporary
investment income. Qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test generally includes:
•
rents from real property;
​
•
interest on debt secured by a mortgage on real property or on interests in real property;
​
•
dividends or other distributions on, and gain from the sale of, shares in other REITs;
​
•
gain from the sale of real estate assets (other than nonqualified publicly offered REIT debt instruments, as described
below);
​
•
income and gain derived from foreclosure property (as described below);
​
•
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income derived from a REMIC in proportion to the real estate assets held by the REMIC, unless at least 95% of the
REMIC’s assets are real estate assets, in which case all of the income derived from the REMIC; and
​
•
income derived from the temporary investment of new capital that is attributable to the issuance of our shares or a
public offering of our debt with a maturity date of at least five years and that we receive during the one-year period
beginning on the date on which we received such new capital.
​
​
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Second, in general, at least 95% of our gross income for each taxable year must consist of income that is qualifying
income for purposes of the 75% gross income test (except for income derived from the temporary investment of new
capital), other types of interest and dividends, gain from the sale or disposition of stock or securities or any
combination of these.
Certain income items do not qualify for either gross income test. Other types of income are excluded from both the
numerator and the denominator in one or both of the gross income tests. For example, gross income from the sale of
property that we hold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, income and gain from
“hedging transactions,” as defined in “— Hedging Transactions,” and gross income attributable to cancellation of
indebtedness, or “COD,” income will be excluded from both the numerator and the denominator for purposes of both the
75% and 95% gross income tests. In addition, certain foreign currency gains will be excluded from gross income for
purposes of one or both of the gross income tests. See “— Foreign Currency Gain.” For purposes of the 75% and 95%
gross income tests, we are treated as receiving our proportionate share of our operating partnership’s gross income. We
will monitor the amount of our non-qualifying income and will seek to manage our investment portfolio to comply at
all time with the gross income tests. The following paragraphs discuss the specific application of the gross income
tests to us.
Dividends
Our share of any dividends received from any corporation (including dividends from our TRSs, but excluding any
REIT) in which we own an equity interest will qualify for purposes of the 95% gross income test but not for purposes
of the 75% gross income test. Our share of any dividends received from any other REIT in which we own an equity
interest, if any, will be qualifying income for purposes of both gross income tests.
Interest
The term “interest,” as defined for purposes of both gross income tests, generally excludes any amount that is based in
whole or in part on the income or profits of any person. However, interest generally includes the following:
•
an amount that is based on a fixed percentage or percentages of receipts or sales; and
​
•
an amount that is based on the income or profits of a debtor, as long as the debtor derives substantially all of its
income from the real property securing the debt from leasing substantially all of its interest in the property, and only to
the extent that the amounts received by the debtor would be qualifying “rents from real property” if received directly by
a REIT.
​
If a loan contains a provision that entitles a REIT to a percentage of the borrower’s gain upon the sale of the real
property securing the loan or a percentage of the appreciation in the property’s value as of a specific date, income
attributable to that loan provision will be treated as gain from the sale of the property securing the loan, which
generally is qualifying income for purposes of both gross income tests, provided that the property is not inventory or
dealer property in the hands of the borrower or the REIT.
Interest on debt secured by a mortgage on real property or on interests in real property, including, for this purpose,
market discount, original issue discount, discount points, prepayment penalties, loan assumption fees, and late
payment charges that are not compensation for services, generally is qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross
income test. However, if the loan is secured by real property and other property and the highest principal amount of a
loan outstanding during a taxable year exceeds the fair market value of the real property securing the loan as of  (i) the
date the REIT agreed to originate or acquire the loan or (ii) as discussed below, in the event of a “significant
modification,” the date we modified the loan, a portion of the interest income from such loan will not be qualifying
income for purposes of the 75% gross income test, but will be qualifying income for purposes of the 95% gross
income test. The portion of the interest income that will not be qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross
income test will be equal to the portion of the principal amount of the loan that is not secured by real property — that is,
the amount by which the loan balance exceeds the applicable value of the real estate that secures the loan.
29

Edgar Filing: ASSOCIATED ESTATES REALTY CORP - Form 10-Q

62



TABLE OF CONTENTS
We intend to acquire re-performing, and non-performing mortgage loans. Our mortgage loans will be secured by a
first lien on real property. Interest on debt secured by mortgages on real property or on interests in real property,
including, for this purpose, prepayment penalties, loan assumption fees and late payment charges that are not
compensation for services, generally is qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test. Under the
applicable Treasury Regulation (referred to as the “interest apportionment regulation”), if we receive interest income
with respect to a mortgage loan that is secured by both real property and other property, and the highest principal
amount of the loan outstanding during a taxable year exceeds the fair market value of the real property on the date that
we acquired the mortgage loan, the interest income will be apportioned between the real property and the other
collateral, and our income from the arrangement will qualify for purposes of the 75% gross income test only to the
extent that the interest is allocable to the real property. Even if a mortgage loan is not secured by real property, or is
undersecured, the income that it generates may nonetheless qualify for purposes of the 95% gross income test. In
Revenue Procedure 2014-51, the IRS interpreted the “principal amount” of the loan for purposes of that test to be the
face amount of the loan, despite the Code’s requirement that taxpayers treat any market discount (discussed below) as
interest rather than principal. For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2015, in the case of mortgage loans
secured by both real and personal property, if the fair market value of such personal property does not exceed 15% of
the total fair market value of all property securing the loan, then the personal property securing the loan will be treated
as real property for purposes of determining whether the mortgage interest income is qualifying for purposes of the
75% gross income test.
We expect to acquire re-performing, and non-performing mortgage loans for substantially less than their face amount.
However, we believe that all of the mortgage loans that we will acquire are secured only by real property and no other
property value is taken into account in our underwriting and pricing. Accordingly, we believe that the interest
apportionment rules and Revenue Procedure 2014-51 (to the extent it addresses interest apportionment) will not apply
to our mortgage loans. Nevertheless, if the IRS were to assert successfully that our mortgage loans were secured by
other property, then depending upon the value of the real property securing our mortgage loans and their face amount,
and the sources of our gross income generally, we might not be able to satisfy the 75% income test.
Under the Code, if the terms of a loan are modified in a manner constituting a “significant modification,” such
modification triggers a deemed exchange of the original loan for the modified loan. IRS Revenue Procedure 2014-51
provides a safe harbor pursuant to which we will not be required to redetermine the fair market value of the real
property securing a loan for purposes of the gross income and asset tests in connection with a loan modification that
is: (i) occasioned by a borrower default; or (ii) made at a time when we reasonably believe that the modification to the
loan will substantially reduce a significant risk of default on the original loan. If we modify our mortgage loans in the
future, no assurance can be provided that all of our loan modifications will qualify for the safe harbor in Revenue
Procedure 2014-51. To the extent we significantly modify a mortgage loan in a manner that does not qualify for that
safe harbor, we will be required to redetermine the value of the real property securing the loan at the time it was
significantly modified. If the fair market value of the real property securing a loan has decreased, a portion of the
interest income from the loan would not be qualifying income for the 75% gross income test and a portion of the value
of the loan would not be a qualifying asset for purposes of the 75% asset test.
Hedging Transactions
From time to time, we may enter into hedging transactions with respect to one or more of our assets or liabilities. Our
hedging activities may include entering into interest rate swaps, caps, and floors, options to purchase these items, and
futures and forward contracts. Except to the extent provided by Treasury Regulations, income and gain from “hedging
transactions” will be excluded from gross income for purposes of both the 75% and 95% gross income tests. A “hedging
transaction” includes any transaction entered into in the normal course of our trade or business primarily to manage the
risk of interest rate changes, price changes, or currency fluctuations with respect to borrowings made or to be made, or
ordinary obligations incurred or to be incurred, to acquire or carry real estate assets (“liability hedge”). A “hedging
transaction” also includes any transaction entered into primarily to manage risk of currency fluctuations with respect to
any item of income or gain that is qualifying income for purposes of the 75% or 95% gross income test (or any
property which generates such income or gain). To the extent we enter into transactions to mitigate the risk of hedging
transactions where the hedged asset has been extinguished or disposed of, such transaction
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may also constitute a “hedging transaction.” We are required to clearly identify any such hedging transaction before the
close of the day on which it was acquired, originated, or entered into and satisfy other identification requirements. To
the extent that we hedge for other purposes, or to the extent that a portion of the hedged assets are not treated as “real
estate assets” (as described below under “— Asset Tests”) or we enter into derivative transactions that are not liability
hedges or we fail to satisfy the identification requirements with respect to a hedging transaction, the income from
those transactions will likely be treated as non-qualifying income for purposes of both gross income tests. We intend
to structure any hedging transactions in a manner that does not jeopardize our qualification as a REIT, but we cannot
assure you that we will be able to do so. We may conduct some or all of our hedging activities through a TRS or other
corporate entity, the income from which may be subject to U.S. federal income tax, rather than by participating in the
arrangements directly or through pass-through subsidiaries.
Fee Income
We may earn income from fees in certain circumstances. Fee income generally will be qualifying income for purposes
of both the 75% and 95% gross income tests if it is received in consideration for entering into an agreement to make a
loan secured by real property and the fees are not determined by income and profits. Other fees, including certain
amounts received in connection with mortgage servicing rights (which we do not currently intend to acquire on a
standalone basis), generally are not qualifying income for purposes of either gross income test. Any fees earned by a
TRS, like other income earned by a TRS, will not be included in the REIT’s gross income for purposes of the gross
income tests.
Foreign Currency Gain
Certain foreign currency gains will be excluded from gross income for purposes of one or both of the gross income
tests. “Real estate foreign exchange gain” will be excluded from gross income for purposes of the 75% and 95% gross
income tests. Real estate foreign exchange gain generally includes foreign currency gain attributable to any item of
income or gain that is qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test, foreign currency gain attributable
to the acquisition or ownership of  (or becoming or being the obligor under) obligations secured by mortgages on real
property or on interest in real property and certain foreign currency gain attributable to certain “qualified business units”
of a REIT. “Passive foreign exchange gain” will be excluded from gross income for purposes of the 95% gross income
test. Passive foreign exchange gain generally includes real estate foreign exchange gain as described above, and also
includes foreign currency gain attributable to any item of income or gain that is qualifying income for purposes of the
95% gross income test and foreign currency gain attributable to the acquisition or ownership of  (or becoming or being
the obligor under) obligations. These exclusions for real estate foreign exchange gain and passive foreign exchange
gain do not apply to foreign currency gain derived from dealing, or engaging in substantial and regular trading, in
securities. Such gain is treated as non-qualifying income for purposes of both the 75% and 95% gross income tests.
Rents from Real Property
We have acquired interests in real property as part of our initial portfolio and may acquire additional real property or
an interest therein in the future. Rents we receive from our interests in real property will qualify as “rents from real
property” in satisfying the gross income requirements for a REIT described above only if the following conditions are
met:
•
First, the amount of rent must not be based in whole or in part on the income or profits of any person. An amount
received or accrued generally will not be excluded, however, from rents from real property solely by reason of being
based on fixed percentages of receipts or sales.
​
•
Second, rents we receive from a “related party tenant” will not qualify as rents from real property in satisfying the gross
income tests unless the tenant is a TRS, at least 90% of the property is leased to unrelated tenants, the rent paid by the
TRS is substantially comparable to the rent paid by the unrelated tenants for comparable space and the rent is not
attributable to an increase in rent due to a modification of a lease with a “controlled TRS” (i.e., a TRS in which we own
​
​
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directly or indirectly more than 50% of the voting power or value of the stock). A tenant is a related party tenant if the
REIT, or an actual or constructive owner of 10% or more of the REIT, actually or constructively owns 10% or more of
the tenant.
•
Third, if rent attributable to personal property, leased in connection with a lease of real property, is greater than 15%
of the total rent received under the lease, then the portion of rent attributable to the personal property will not qualify
as rents from real property.
​
•
Fourth, we generally must not operate or manage our real property or furnish or render services to our tenants, other
than through an “independent contractor” who is adequately compensated and from whom we do not derive revenue. We
may, however, provide services directly to tenants if the services are “usually or customarily rendered” in connection
with the rental of space for occupancy only and are not considered to be provided for the tenants’ convenience. In
addition, we may provide a minimal amount of  “non-customary” services to the tenants of a property, other than through
an independent contractor, as long as our income from the services does not exceed 1% of our income from the related
property. Furthermore, we may own up to 100% of the stock of a TRS, which may provide customary and
non-customary services to tenants without tainting our rental income from the related properties.
​
If a portion of the rent that we receive from a property does not qualify as “rents from real property” because the rent
attributable to personal property exceeds 15% of the total rent for a taxable year, the portion of the rent that is
attributable to personal property will not be qualifying income for purposes of either the 75% or 95% gross income
test. Thus, if such rent attributable to personal property, plus any other income that is non-qualifying income for
purposes of the 95% gross income test, during a taxable year exceeds 5% of our gross income during the year, we
would lose our REIT qualification. Further, the rent from a particular property does not qualify as “rents from real
property” if  (i) the rent is considered based on the income or profits of the tenant, (ii) the tenant either is a related party
tenant or fails to qualify for the exceptions to the related party tenant rule for qualifying taxable REIT subsidiaries or
(iii) we furnish non-customary services to the tenants of the property, or manage or operate the property, other than
through a qualifying independent contractor or a taxable REIT subsidiary.
Our operating partnership and/or its subsidiaries will generally lease our REO properties to tenants that are
individuals. Our REO property leases will typically have a term of at least one year and require the tenant to pay fixed
rent. We may also lease portions of our mixed-use properties, if any, to tenants that are entities. We intend to structure
any such leases so that the rent will qualify as “rents from real property,” and do not intend to own more than 10% of
any tenant of a mixed-use property. We do not anticipate leasing significant amounts of personal property pursuant to
any of our leases. Moreover, we do not intend to perform any services other than customary ones for our tenants,
unless such services are provided through independent contractors or a TRS. Accordingly, we believe that our leases
generally produce rent that qualifies as “rents from real property” for purposes of the 75% and 95% gross income tests.
In addition to the rent, the tenants may be required to pay certain additional charges. To the extent that such additional
charges represent reimbursements of amounts that we are obligated to pay to third parties such charges generally will
qualify as “rents from real property.” To the extent such additional charges represent penalties for nonpayment or late
payment of such amounts, such charges should qualify as “rents from real property.” However, to the extent that late
charges do not qualify as “rents from real property,” they instead will be treated as interest that qualifies for the 95%
gross income test.
Prohibited Transactions
A REIT will incur a 100% tax on the net income (including foreign currency gain) derived from any sale or other
disposition of property, other than foreclosure property, that the REIT holds primarily for sale to customers in the
ordinary course of a trade or business. Any such income will be excluded from the application of the 75% and 95%
gross income tests. Whether a REIT holds an asset “primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or
business” depends on the facts and circumstances in effect from time to time, including those related to a particular
asset. We believe that none of our assets will be held primarily for sale to customers and that a sale of any of our
assets will not be in the ordinary course of our business. No assurance, however, can be given that the IRS will not
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position, in which case we would be subject to the prohibited transaction tax on the sale of those assets. To avoid the
100% prohibited transaction tax on the sale of dealer property by a REIT, we intend to dispose of any asset that may
be treated as held “primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business” by contributing or
selling the asset to a TRS prior to marketing the asset for sale.
Foreclosure Property
We will be subject to tax at the maximum corporate rate on any income (including foreign currency gain) from
foreclosure property, other than income that otherwise would be qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross
income test, less expenses directly connected with the production of that income. Gross income from foreclosure
property will qualify, however, under the 75% and 95% gross income tests. Foreclosure property is any real property,
including interests in real property, and any personal property incident to such real property:
•
that is acquired by a REIT as the result of the REIT having bid on such property at foreclosure, or having otherwise
reduced such property to ownership or possession by agreement or process of law, after there was a default or default
was imminent on a lease of such property or on indebtedness that such property secured;
​
•
for which the related loan or lease was acquired by the REIT at a time when the default was not imminent or
anticipated; and
​
•
for which the REIT makes a proper election to treat the property as foreclosure property.
​
A REIT will not be considered, however, to have foreclosed on a property where the REIT takes control of the
property as a mortgagee-in-possession and cannot receive any profit or sustain any loss except as a creditor of the
mortgagor. Property generally ceases to be foreclosure property at the end of the third taxable year following the
taxable year in which the REIT acquired the property, or longer if an extension is granted by the Secretary of the U.S.
Treasury. This grace period terminates and foreclosure property ceases to be foreclosure property on the first day:
•
on which a lease is entered into for the property that, by its terms, will give rise to income that does not qualify for
purposes of the 75% gross income test (disregarding income from foreclosure property), or any amount is received or
accrued, directly or indirectly, pursuant to a lease entered into on or after such day that will give rise to income that
does not qualify for purposes of the 75% gross income test (disregarding income from foreclosure property);
​
•
on which any construction takes place on the property, other than completion of a building or any other improvement,
where more than 10% of the construction was completed before default became imminent; or
​
•
which is more than 90 days after the day on which the REIT acquired the property and the property is used in a trade
or business that is conducted by the REIT, other than through an independent contractor from whom the REIT itself
does not derive or receive any income.
​
To the extent we foreclose or enter into a deed-in-lieu arrangement on any distressed mortgage loan that we acquire,
we may not be able to make a foreclosure property election with respect to such property because we may be treated
as having acquired the loan at a time when default on such loan was imminent or anticipated. If we anticipate selling a
property shortly after foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure, we expect that we will contribute or sell the property
to a TRS, which will market and sell the property. See “— Taxable REIT Subsidiaries” and “— Gross Income Tests —
Prohibited Transactions.”
Failure to Satisfy Gross Income Tests
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If we fail to satisfy one or both of the gross income tests for any taxable year, we nevertheless may qualify as a REIT
for that year if we are entitled to qualify for relief under certain provisions of the U.S. federal income tax laws. Those
relief provisions generally will be available if:
•
our failure to meet those tests is due to reasonable cause and not to willful neglect; and
​
​
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•
following such failure for any taxable year, a schedule of the sources of our income is filed with the IRS in accordance
with regulations prescribed by the Secretary of the U.S. Treasury.
​
We cannot with certainty predict whether any failure to meet these tests will qualify for the relief provisions. If these
relief provisions are inapplicable to a particular set of circumstances involving us, we will not qualify as a REIT. As
discussed above in “— Taxation of Our Company,” even if the relief provisions apply, we would incur a 100% tax on the
gross income attributable to the greater of the amount by which we fail the 75% gross income test or the 95% gross
income test, multiplied, in either case, by a fraction intended to reflect our profitability.
Asset Tests
To qualify as a REIT, we also must satisfy the following asset tests at the end of each quarter of each taxable year.
First, at least 75% of the value of our total assets must consist of:
•
cash or cash items, including certain receivables and investments in money market funds;
​
•
government securities;
​
•
interests in real property, including leaseholds and options to acquire real property and leaseholds;
​
•
interests in mortgage loans secured by real property or by interests in real property;
​
•
stock in other REITs;
​
•
investments in stock or debt instruments during the one-year period following our receipt of new capital that we raise
through equity offerings or public offerings of debt with at least a five-year term; and
​
•
regular or residual interests in a REMIC. However, if less than 95% of the assets of a REMIC consist of assets that are
qualifying real estate-related assets under the U.S. federal income tax laws, determined as if we held such assets, we
will be treated as holding directly our proportionate share of the assets of such REMIC.
​
For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2015, the 75% asset class also includes debt instruments of  “publicly
offered REITs,” personal property securing a mortgage secured by both real property and personal property if the fair
market value of such personal property does not exceed 15% of the total fair market value of all such property, and
personal property leased in connection with a lease of real property for which the rent attributable to personal property
is not greater than 15% of the total rent received under the lease.
Second, of our investments not included in the 75% asset class, the value of our interest in any one issuer’s securities
(other than any TRS we may own) may not exceed 5% of the value of our total assets (the “5% asset test”).
Third, of our investments not included in the 75% asset class, we may not own more than 10% of the total voting
power or 10% of the total value of any one issuer’s outstanding securities (the “10% vote test” and the “10% value test,”
respectively).
Fourth, no more than 25% (or, beginning January 1, 2018, 20%) of the value of our total assets may consist of the
securities of one or more TRSs.
Fifth, no more than 25% of the value of our total assets may consist of the securities of TRSs and other non-TRS
taxable subsidiaries and other assets that are not qualifying assets for purposes of the 75% asset test (the “25%
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securities test”).
Sixth, not more than 25% of the value of our total assets may be represented by debt instruments of “publicly offered
REITs” to the extent those debt instruments would not be real estate assets but for the inclusion of debt instruments of 
“publicly offered REITs” in the meaning of real estate assets for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2015, as
described above.
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For purposes of these asset tests, we are treated as holding our proportionate share of our operating partnership’s
assets. For purposes of the 5% asset test, the 10% vote test and the 10% value test, the term “securities” does not include
stock in another REIT, equity or debt securities of a qualified REIT subsidiary or TRS, mortgage loans or MBS that
constitute real estate assets, or equity interests in a partnership. For purposes of the 10% value test, the term “securities”
does not include:
•
“straight debt” securities, which is defined as a written unconditional promise to pay on demand or on a specified date a
sum certain in money if  (i) the debt is not convertible, directly or indirectly, into stock, and (ii) the interest rate and
interest payment dates are not contingent on profits, the borrower’s discretion, or similar factors. “Straight debt”
securities do not include any securities issued by a partnership or a corporation in which we or any “controlled TRS”
hold non-“straight” debt securities that have an aggregate value of more than 1% of the issuer’s outstanding securities.
However, “straight debt” securities include debt subject to the following contingencies:
​
•
a contingency relating to the time of payment of interest or principal, as long as either (i) there is no change to the
effective yield of the debt obligation, other than a change to the annual yield that does not exceed the greater of 0.25%
or 5% of the annual yield, or (ii) neither the aggregate issue price nor the aggregate face amount of the issuer’s debt
obligations held by us exceeds $1 million and no more than twelve months of unaccrued interest on the debt
obligations can be required to be prepaid; and
​
•
a contingency relating to the time or amount of payment upon a default or prepayment of a debt obligation, as long as
the contingency is consistent with customary commercial practice;
​
•
any loan to an individual or an estate;
​
•
any “section 467 rental agreement,” other than an agreement with a related party tenant;
​
•
any obligation to pay “rents from real property;”
​
•
certain securities issued by governmental entities that are not dependent in whole or in part on the profits of  (or
payments made by) a non-governmental entity;
​
•
any security (including debt securities) issued by another REIT;
​
•
any debt instrument of an entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes in which we are a
partner to the extent of our proportionate interest in the equity and certain debt securities issued by that partnership; or
​
•
any debt instrument of an entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes not described in the
preceding bullet points if at least 75% of the partnership’s gross income, excluding income from prohibited
transactions, is qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test described above in “— Gross Income Tests.”
​
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For purposes of the 10% value test, our proportionate share of the assets of a partnership is our proportionate interest
in any securities issued by the partnership, without regard to the securities described in the last two bullet points
above.
As discussed above under “— Gross Income Tests,” we intend to acquire re-performing, and non-performing mortgage
loans for substantially less than their face amount. Under the applicable Treasury Regulation (referred to as the “loan
apportionment regulation”), if a mortgage loan is secured by real property and other property and the highest principal
amount of the loan outstanding during a taxable year exceeds the fair market value of the real property securing the
loan as of  (i) the date we agreed to acquire or originate the mortgage loan or (ii) in the event of a significant
modification, the date we modified the loan, then a portion of the interest income from such a loan will not be
qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test but will be qualifying income for purposes of the 95%
gross income test. Although the law is not entirely clear, a portion of the mortgage loan will also likely be a
non-qualifying asset for purposes of the 75% asset test. Revenue Procedure 2014-51 provides a safe harbor under
which the IRS has stated that it will not challenge a REIT’s treatment of a mortgage loan as being, in part, a qualifying
real estate asset in an amount equal to the lesser of  (i) the fair market value of the
35
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mortgage loan on the date of the relevant quarterly REIT asset testing date or (ii) the greater of  (x) the fair market
value of the real property securing the loan on the date of the relevant quarterly REIT asset testing date or (y) the fair
market value of the real property securing the loan determined as of the date the REIT committed to acquire the loan.
Under the safe harbor, when the current value of a mortgage loan exceeds both the current fair market value of the real
property that secures the loan and the fair market value of the real property that secures the loan, determined as of the
date we committed to acquire or originate the loan, a portion of the mortgage loan will be treated as a nonqualifying
asset. We do not anticipate that the value of our distressed mortgage loans will exceed the current value of the real
property securing the loans.
We may in the future enter into repurchase agreements under which we nominally sell certain of our assets to a
counterparty and simultaneously entered into an agreement to repurchase the sold assets in exchange for a purchase
price that reflects a financing charge. Based on positions the IRS has taken in analogous situations, we believe that
these transactions would be treated as secured debt and that we would be treated for REIT asset and income test
purposes as the owner of the assets that would be the subject of such agreements notwithstanding that such
agreements may transfer record ownership of the assets to the counterparty during the term of the agreement. It is
possible, however, that the IRS could assert that we did not own our assets subject to sale and repurchase agreements
during the term of such agreements, in which case we could fail to qualify as a REIT.
Derivative instruments generally are not qualifying assets for purposes of the 75% asset test. Thus, interest rate swaps,
futures contracts, and other similar instruments that are used in “hedging transactions” as defined in “— Hedging
Transactions,” are non-qualifying assets for purposes of the 75% asset test.
As discussed above, we may invest opportunistically in other types of mortgage-related assets. To the extent we invest
in such assets, we intend to do so in a manner that will enable us to satisfy each of the asset tests described above.
However, we cannot assure you that we will be able to satisfy the asset tests described above. We will monitor the
status of our assets for purposes of the various asset tests and seek to manage our portfolio to comply at all times with
such tests. No assurance, however, can be given that we will continue to be successful in this effort. In this regard, to
determine our compliance with these requirements, we will have to value our investment in our assets to ensure
compliance with the asset tests. Although we seek to be prudent in making these estimates, no assurances can be given
that the IRS might not disagree with these determinations and assert that a different value is applicable, in which case
we might not satisfy the 75% asset test and the other asset tests and, thus, would fail to qualify as a REIT.
If we fail to satisfy the asset tests at the end of a calendar quarter, we will not lose our REIT qualification so long as:
•
we satisfied the asset tests at the end of the preceding calendar quarter; and
​
•
the discrepancy between the value of our assets and the asset test requirements arose from changes in the market
values of our assets and was not wholly or partly caused by the acquisition of one or more non-qualifying assets.
​
If we did not satisfy the condition described in the second item, above, we still could avoid disqualification by
eliminating any discrepancy within 30 days after the close of the calendar quarter in which it arose.
If we violate the 5% asset test, the 10% vote test or the 10% value test described above at the end of any calendar
quarter, we will not lose our REIT qualification if  (i) the failure is de minimis (up to the lesser of 1% of the total value
of our assets or $10 million) and (ii) we dispose of assets or otherwise comply with the asset tests within six months
after the last day of the quarter in which we identified such failure. In the event of a more than de minimis failure of
any of the asset tests, as long as the failure was due to reasonable cause and not to willful neglect, we will not lose our
REIT qualification if we (i) dispose of assets or otherwise comply with the asset tests within six months after the last
day of the quarter in which we identified such failure, (ii) file a schedule with the IRS describing the assets that caused
such failure in accordance with regulations promulgated by the Secretary of the U.S. Treasury and (iii) pay a tax equal
to the greater of  $50,000 or the product of the highest U.S. federal corporate tax rate (currently, 35%) and the net
income from the non-qualifying assets during the period in which we failed to satisfy the asset tests. If these relief
provisions are inapplicable to a particular set of circumstances involving us, we will fail to qualify as a REIT.
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We believe that the assets that we may hold will satisfy the foregoing asset test requirements. We will monitor the
status of our assets and our future acquisition of assets to ensure that we comply with those requirements, but we
cannot assure you that we will be successful in this effort. No independent appraisals will be obtained to support our
estimates of and conclusions as to the value of our assets and securities, or in many cases, the real estate collateral for
the mortgage loans that support our assets. Moreover, the values of some assets may not be susceptible to a precise
determination. As a result, no assurance can be given that the IRS will not contend that our ownership of securities
and other assets violates one or more of the asset tests applicable to REITs.
Distribution Requirements
Each taxable year, we must distribute dividends, other than capital gain dividends and deemed distributions of
retained capital gain, to our stockholders in an aggregate amount at least equal to:
•
the sum of
​
◦
90% of our “REIT taxable income,” computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction and our net capital gain,
and
​
◦
90% of our after-tax net income, if any, from foreclosure property,
​
minus
•
the sum of certain items of non-cash income.
​
We must make such distributions in the taxable year to which they relate, or in the following taxable year if either (i)
we declare the distribution before we timely file our U.S. federal income tax return for the year and pay the
distribution on or before the first regular dividend payment date after such declaration or (ii) we declare the
distribution in October, November or December of the taxable year, payable to stockholders of record on a specified
day in any such month, and we actually pay the dividend before the end of January of the following year. The
distributions under clause (i) are taxable to the stockholders in the year in which paid, and the distributions in clause
(ii) are treated as paid on December 31 of the prior taxable year. In both instances, these distributions relate to our
prior taxable year for purposes of the 90% distribution requirement.
We will pay U.S. federal income tax on taxable income, including net capital gain, that we do not distribute to
stockholders. Furthermore, if we fail to distribute during a calendar year, or by the end of January following the
calendar year in the case of distributions with declaration and record dates falling in the last three months of the
calendar year, at least the sum of:
•
85% of our REIT ordinary income for such year,
​
•
95% of our REIT capital gain income for such year, and
​
•
any undistributed taxable income from prior periods, we will incur a 4% nondeductible excise tax on the excess of
such required distribution over the amounts we actually distribute.
​
We may elect to retain and pay income tax on the net long term capital gain we recognize in a taxable year. See “—
Taxation of U.S. Holders — Taxation of Taxable U.S. Holders on Distributions on Shares.” If we so elect, we will be
treated as having distributed any such retained amount for purposes of the REIT distribution requirements and the 4%
nondeductible excise tax described above.
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We intend to make timely distributions in the future sufficient to satisfy the annual distribution requirements and to
avoid corporate income tax and the 4% nondeductible excise tax.
It is possible that, from time to time, we may experience timing differences between the actual receipt of cash,
including distributions from our subsidiaries, and actual payment of deductible expenses and the inclusion of that
income and deduction of such expenses in arriving at our REIT taxable income. Possible examples of those timing
differences include the following:
•
If we sell property at a loss to a related party, including a TRS, such loss may be suspended until the TRS disposes of
the property to an unrelated buyer.
​
​
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•
Because we may deduct capital losses only to the extent of our capital gains, we may have taxable income that
exceeds our economic income.
​
•
We will recognize taxable income in advance of the related cash flow with respect to our investments that are deemed
to have original issue discount. We generally must accrue original issue discount based on a constant yield method
that takes into account projected prepayments but that defers taking into account credit losses until they are actually
incurred.
​
•
If we acquire distressed mortgage loans and significantly modify those loans, we would recognize gain, without the
receipt of any cash, on the resulting deemed exchange equal to the difference between the adjusted issue price of the
modified loan (which will generally be the face amount of the modified loan) and our adjusted tax basis in the original
loan. Because we intend to acquire distressed mortgage loans at a significant discount, our adjusted tax basis in a
distressed mortgage loan typically will be significantly lower than the adjusted issue price of the modified loan, which
would result in our recognizing “phantom” income if we significantly modify the loan. We intend to significantly
modify our distressed mortgage loans only on an opportunistic or selective basis.
​
•
We expect to foreclose on a portion of our non-performing mortgage loans, and we may engage in foreclosures or
other transactions that result in the conversion of such loans to real property. Such transactions could also give rise to
taxable income without a corresponding receipt of cash.
​
•
We may acquire investments that are treated as having “market discount” for U.S. federal income tax purposes, because
the investments are debt instruments that we acquire for an amount less than their principal amount. We do not intend
to elect to recognize market discount currently. Under the market discount rules, we may be required to treat portions
of gains on sale of market discount bonds as ordinary income and may be required to include some amounts of
principal payments received on market discount bonds as ordinary income. The recognition of market discount upon
receipt of principal payments results in an acceleration of the recognition of taxable income to periods prior to the
receipt of the related economic income. Further, to the extent that such an investment does not fully amortize
according to its terms, we may never receive the economic income attributable to previously recognized market
discount.
​
Although several types of non-cash income are excluded in determining the annual distribution requirement, we will
incur corporate income tax and/or the 4% nondeductible excise tax with respect to those non-cash income items if we
do not distribute those items on a current basis. As a result of the foregoing, we may have less cash than is necessary
to distribute all of our taxable income and thereby avoid corporate income tax and the excise tax imposed on certain
undistributed income. In such a situation, we may need to borrow funds, sell assets or make taxable distributions of
our shares or debt securities.
We may satisfy the 90% distribution test with taxable distributions of our shares or debt securities. The IRS has issued
private letter rulings to other REITs treating certain distributions that are paid partly in cash and partly in shares as
dividends that would satisfy the REIT annual distribution requirement and qualify for the dividends paid deduction for
U.S. federal income tax purposes. Those rulings may be relied upon only by taxpayers whom they were issued, but we
could request a similar ruling from the IRS. In addition, the IRS issued a revenue procedure creating a temporary safe
harbor authorizing publicly traded REITs to make elective cash/shares dividends, but that safe harbor has expired.
Accordingly, it is unclear whether and to what extent we will be able to make taxable dividends payable in cash and
shares. We have no current intention to make a taxable dividend payable in cash and our shares.
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Under certain circumstances, we may be able to correct a failure to meet the distribution requirement for a year by
paying “deficiency dividends” to our stockholders in a later year. We may include such deficiency dividends in our
deduction for dividends paid for the earlier year. Although we may be able to avoid income tax on amounts distributed
as deficiency dividends, we will be required to pay interest and may be required to pay a penalty to the IRS based
upon the amount of any deduction we take for deficiency dividends.
Recordkeeping Requirements
We must maintain certain records in order to qualify as a REIT. In addition, to avoid a monetary penalty, we must
request, on an annual basis, information from our stockholders designed to disclose the actual ownership of our
outstanding shares. We intend to comply with these requirements.
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Failure to Qualify
If we fail to satisfy one or more requirements for REIT qualification, other than the gross income tests and the asset
tests, we could avoid disqualification if our failure is due to reasonable cause and not to willful neglect and we pay a
penalty of  $50,000 for each such failure. In addition, there are relief provisions for a failure of the gross income tests
and asset tests, as described in “— Gross Income Tests” and “— Asset Tests.”
If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, and no relief provision applies, we would be subject to U.S. federal
income tax and any applicable alternative minimum tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates. In
calculating our taxable income in a year in which we fail to qualify as a REIT, we would not be able to deduct
amounts paid out to stockholders. In fact, we would not be required to distribute any amounts to stockholders in that
year. In such event, to the extent of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, all distributions to stockholders
would be taxable as ordinary income. Subject to certain limitations of the U.S. federal income tax laws, corporate
stockholders might be eligible for the dividends received deduction and stockholders taxed at individual rates might
be eligible for the reduced U.S. federal income tax rate of 20% on such dividends. Unless we qualified for relief under
specific statutory provisions, we also would be disqualified from taxation as a REIT for the four taxable years
following the year during which we ceased to qualify as a REIT. We cannot predict whether in all circumstances we
would qualify for such statutory relief.
Taxable Mortgage Pools and Excess Inclusion Income
An entity, or a portion of an entity, may be classified as a TMP under the Code if  (i) substantially all of its assets
consist of debt obligations or interests in debt obligations, (ii) more than 50% of those debt obligations are real estate
mortgages or interests in real estate mortgages as of specified testing dates, (iii) the entity has issued debt obligations
(liabilities) that have two or more maturities, and (iv) the payments required to be made by the entity on its debt
obligations (liabilities) “bear a relationship” to the payments to be received by the entity on the debt obligations that it
holds as assets. Under Treasury Regulations, if less than 80% of the assets of an entity (or a portion of an entity)
consist of debt obligations, these debt obligations are considered not to comprise “substantially all” of its assets, and
therefore the entity would not be treated as a TMP. Our future financing and securitization arrangements may give rise
to TMPs, with the consequences as described below.
Where an entity, or a portion of an entity, is classified as a TMP, it is generally treated as a taxable corporation for
U.S. federal income tax purposes. In the case of a REIT, or a portion of a REIT, or a disregarded subsidiary of a REIT,
that is a TMP, however, special rules apply. We may enter into transactions that could result in us or a portion of our
assets being treated as a TMP for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Specifically, we may securitize our assets and
such securitizations may result in us owning interests in a TMP. If we do not own 100% of the equity in our operating
partnership, we would be precluded from holding equity interests in such a securitization through our operating
partnership. Accordingly, we would likely enter into such transactions through a Subsidiary REIT owned by our
operating partnership and will be precluded from selling to outside investors equity interests in such securitizations or
from selling any debt securities issued in connection with such securitizations that might be considered to be equity
interests for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
If a REIT owns, directly or indirectly through one or more qualified REIT subsidiaries or other entities that are
disregarded as a separate entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes 100% of the equity interests in the TMP, the
TMP will be a qualified REIT subsidiary and, therefore, ignored as an entity separate from the REIT for U.S. federal
income tax purposes and would not generally affect the tax qualification of the REIT. Rather, the consequences of the
TMP classification would generally, except as described below, be limited to the REIT’s stockholders.
The U.S. Treasury has not yet issued regulations to govern the treatment of stockholders of a REIT, a portion of which
is a TMP, as described below. A portion of the REIT’s income from the TMP arrangement, which might be non-cash
accrued income, however, will be treated as “excess inclusion income.”
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The REIT’s excess inclusion income, including any excess inclusion income from a residual interest in a REMIC,
would be allocated among its stockholders. A stockholder’s share of excess inclusion income (i) would not be allowed
to be offset by any net operating losses otherwise available to the stockholder, (ii) would be subject to tax as unrelated
business taxable income in the hands of most types of stockholders that are otherwise generally exempt from U.S.
federal income tax, and (iii) would result in the application of U.S. federal income tax withholding at the maximum
rate (30%), without reduction under any otherwise applicable income tax treaty, to the extent allocable to most types
of foreign stockholders. See “— Taxation of U.S. Holders” and “— Taxation of Non-U.S. Holders.” Under IRS guidance, to
the extent that excess inclusion income is allocated from a TMP to a tax-exempt stockholder of a REIT that is not
subject to unrelated business income tax (such as government entities), the REIT will be subject to tax on this income
at the highest applicable corporate tax rate (currently 35%). In that case, the REIT could reduce distributions to such
stockholder by the amount of such tax paid by the REIT attributable to such stockholder’s ownership. Treasury
Regulations provide that such a reduction in distributions would not give rise to a preferential dividend that could
adversely affect the REIT’s compliance with its distribution requirements. See “— Distribution Requirements.” Our charter
contemplates that any tax imposed on us in these circumstances may to the extent feasible reduce distributions to the
stockholder whose status caused that tax to be imposed, or we may bear such tax as a general corporate expense.
The manner in which excess inclusion income is calculated is not clear under current law. As required by IRS
guidance, we intend to make such determinations based on what we believe to be a reasonable method. However,
there can be no assurance that the IRS will not challenge our method of making any such determinations. If the IRS
were to disagree with any such determinations made or with the method used by us, the amount of any excess
inclusion income required to be taken into account by one or more stockholders (as described above) could be
significantly increased. Tax-exempt investors, foreign investors and taxpayers with net operating losses should
carefully consider the tax consequences described above, and are urged to consult their tax advisors.
Taxation of Our Operating Partnership
Our operating partnership currently is treated as a partnership for tax purposes.
Under the Code, a partnership generally is not subject to U.S. federal income tax, but is required to file a partnership
tax information return each year. In general, the character of each partner’s share of each item of income, gain, loss,
deduction, credit, and tax preference is determined at the partnership level. Each partner is then allocated a distributive
share of such items in accordance with the partnership agreement and is required to take such items into account in
determining such partner’s income. Each partner includes such amount in income for any taxable year of the
partnership ending within or with the taxable year of the partner, without regard to whether the partner has received or
will receive any cash distributions from the partnership. Cash distributions, if any, from a partnership to a partner
generally are not taxable unless and to the extent they exceed the partner’s basis in its partnership interest immediately
before the distribution. Any amounts in excess of such tax basis will generally be treated as a sale or exchange of such
partner’s interest in the partnership.
As noted above, for purposes of the REIT income and asset tests, we are treated as receiving or holding our
proportionate share of our operating partnership’s income and assets, respectively. We control, and intend to continue
to control, our operating partnership and intend to operate it consistently with the requirements for our qualification as
a REIT.
We may issue equity compensation to employees in the form of interests in our operating partnership that provide for
capital gain treatment to the employees but do not generate a corresponding deduction for our operating partnership.
The discussion above assumes that our operating partnership is treated as a “partnership” for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. Generally, a domestic unincorporated entity with two or more partners is treated as a partnership for U.S.
federal income tax purposes unless it affirmatively elects to be treated as a corporation. However, certain “publicly
traded partnerships” are treated as corporations for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We intend to comply with one or
more exceptions to treatment of our operating partnership as a corporation under the publicly traded partnership rules.
Failure to qualify for such an exception would prevent us from qualifying as a REIT.
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Taxation of U.S. Holders
The term “U.S. holder” means a beneficial owner of our shares of common stock that, for U.S. federal income tax
purposes, is:
•
a citizen or resident of the United States;
​
•
a corporation (including an entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) created or organized
under the laws of the United States, any of its States or the District of Columbia;
​
•
an estate whose income is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or
​
•
any trust if  (i) a U.S. court is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of such trust and one or
more U.S. persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (ii) it has a valid election in
place to be treated as a U.S. person.
​
If a partnership, entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes holds our shares of
common stock, the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a partner in the partnership will generally depend on the
status of the partner and the activities of the partnership and certain determinations made at the partner level. If you
are a partner in a partnership holding our shares of common stock, you should consult your tax advisor regarding the
consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of our shares of common stock by the partnership.
Taxation of Taxable U.S. Holders on Distributions on Shares
As long as we qualify as a REIT, a taxable U.S. holder must generally take into account as ordinary income
distributions made out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits that we do not designate as capital gain
dividends or retained long-term capital gain. A U.S. holder will not qualify for the dividends received deduction
generally available to corporations. In addition, dividends paid to a U.S. holder generally will not qualify for the 20%
tax rate for “qualified dividend income.”
The maximum tax rate for qualified dividend income received by taxpayers taxed at individual rates is 20%. Qualified
dividend income generally includes dividends paid to U.S. holders taxed at individual rates by domestic C
corporations and certain qualified foreign corporations. Because we are not generally subject to U.S. federal income
tax on the portion of our REIT taxable income distributed to our stockholders (see “— Taxation of Our Company” above),
our dividends generally will not be eligible for the 20% rate on qualified dividend income.
As a result, our ordinary REIT dividends will be taxed at the higher tax rate applicable to ordinary income. Currently,
the highest marginal individual income tax rate on ordinary income is 39.6%. However, the 20% tax rate for qualified
dividend income will apply to our ordinary REIT dividends (i) attributable to dividends received by us from certain
non-REIT corporations (e.g., dividends from any domestic TRSs), (ii) to the extent attributable to income upon which
we have paid corporate income tax (e.g., to the extent that we distribute less than 100% of our taxable income) and
(iii) attributable to income in the prior taxable year from the sales of  “built-in gain” property acquired by us from C
corporations in carryover basis transactions (less the amount of corporate tax on such income). In general, to qualify
for the reduced tax rate on qualified dividend income, a U.S. holder must hold our shares for more than 60 days during
the 121-day period beginning on the date that is 60 days before the date on which our shares of common stock become
ex-dividend. Individuals, trusts and estates whose income exceeds certain thresholds are also subject to a 3.8%
Medicare tax on dividends received from us.
A U.S. holder generally will take into account distributions that we properly designate as capital gain dividends as
long-term capital gain without regard to the period for which the U.S. holder has held our shares of common stock, to
the extent that they do not exceed our actual net capital gain for the taxable year and, for taxable years beginning after
December 31, 2015, do not exceed our dividends paid for the taxable year, including dividends paid the following
year that are treated as paid in the current year. A corporate U.S. holder may, however, be required to treat up to 20%
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We may elect to retain and pay income tax on the net long-term capital gain that we recognize in a taxable year. In
that case, to the extent we designate such amount on a timely notice to such stockholder, a U.S. holder would be taxed
on its proportionate share of our undistributed long-term capital gain. The U.S. holder would receive a credit or refund
for its proportionate share of the tax we paid. The U.S. holder would increase the basis in its shares of common stock
by the amount of its proportionate share of our undistributed long-term capital gain, minus its share of the tax we paid.
A U.S. holder will not incur tax on a distribution in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits if the
distribution does not exceed the adjusted basis of the U.S. holder’s shares of common stock. Instead, the distribution
will reduce the adjusted basis of such shares of common stock. A U.S. holder will recognize a distribution in excess of
both our current and accumulated earnings and profits and the U.S. holder’s adjusted basis in his or her shares of
common stock as long-term capital gain, or short-term capital gain if the shares of common stock have been held for
one year or less, assuming the shares of common stock are a capital asset in the hands of the U.S. holder. In addition,
if we declare a distribution in October, November or December of any year that is payable to a U.S. holder of record
on a specified date in any such month, such distribution shall be treated as both paid by us and received by the U.S.
holder on December 31 of such year, provided that we actually pay the distribution during January of the following
calendar year, as described in “— Distribution Requirements.”
Stockholders may not include in their individual income tax returns any of our net operating losses or capital losses.
Instead, these losses are generally carried over by us for potential offset against our future income.
Taxable distributions from us and gain from the disposition of our shares of common stock will not be treated as
passive activity income and, therefore, a U.S. holder generally will not be able to apply any “passive activity losses,”
such as losses from certain types of limited partnerships in which such U.S. holder is a limited partner, against such
income. In addition, taxable distributions from us and gain from the disposition of our shares of common stock
generally will be treated as investment income for purposes of the investment interest limitations. We will notify
stockholders after the close of our taxable year as to the portions of the distributions attributable to that year that
constitute ordinary income, return of capital and capital gain.
We may recognize taxable income in excess of our economic income, known as phantom income, in the first years
that we hold certain investments, and experience an offsetting excess of economic income over our taxable income in
later years. As a result, U.S. holders at times may be required to pay U.S. federal income tax on distributions that
economically represent a return of capital rather than a dividend. These distributions would be offset in later years by
distributions representing economic income that would be treated as returns of capital for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. Taking into account the time value of money, this acceleration of U.S. federal income tax liabilities may
reduce a U.S. holder’s after-tax return on his or her investment to an amount less than the after-tax return on an
investment with an identical before-tax rate of return that did not generate phantom income. For example, if an
investor with a 30% tax rate purchases a taxable bond with an annual interest rate of 10% on its face value, the
investor’s before-tax return on the investment would be 10% and the investor’s after-tax return would be 7%. However,
if the same investor purchased our common stock at a time when the before-tax rate of return was 10%, the investor’s
after-tax rate of return on such shares of common stock might be somewhat less than 7% as a result of our phantom
income. In general, as the ratio of our phantom income to our total income increases, the after-tax rate of return
received by a taxable U.S. holder will decrease.
If excess inclusion income from a TMP or REMIC residual interest is allocated to any U.S. holder, that income will be
taxable in the hands of the U.S. holder and would not be offset by any net operating losses of the U.S. holder that
would otherwise be available. See “— Taxable Mortgage Pools and Excess Inclusion Income.”
Taxation of Taxable U.S. Holders on the Disposition of Shares
In general, a U.S. holder who is not a dealer in securities must treat any gain or loss realized upon a taxable
disposition of our shares of common stock as long-term capital gain or loss if the U.S. holder has held such shares of
common stock for more than one year and otherwise as short-term capital gain or loss.
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In general, a U.S. holder will realize gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference between the sum of the fair
market value of any property and the amount of cash received in such disposition and the U.S. holder’s adjusted tax
basis. A holder’s adjusted tax basis generally will equal the U.S. holder’s acquisition cost, increased by the excess of net
capital gains deemed distributed to the U.S. holder (discussed above) less tax deemed paid by such U.S. holder on
such gains and reduced by any returns of capital. However, a U.S. holder must treat any loss upon a sale or exchange
of shares of common stock held by such holder for six months or less as a long-term capital loss to the extent of
capital gain dividends and any other actual or deemed distributions from us that such U.S. holder treats as long term
capital gain. All or a portion of any loss that a U.S. holder realizes upon a taxable disposition of our shares of common
stock may be disallowed if the U.S. holder purchases our shares of common stock (or substantially similar shares of
common stock) within 30 days before or after the disposition.
Capital Gains and Losses
A taxpayer generally must hold a capital asset for more than one year for gain or loss derived from its sale or
exchange to be treated as long-term capital gain or loss. The maximum tax rate on long-term capital gain applicable to
U.S. holders taxed at individual rates is 20% for sales and exchanges of assets held for more than one year. The
maximum tax rate on long-term capital gain from the sale or exchange of  “section 1250 property,” or depreciable real
property, is 25%, which applies to the lesser of the total amount of the gains or the accumulated depreciation on the
Section 1250 property. Individuals, trusts and estates whose income exceeds certain thresholds are also subject to a
3.8% Medicare tax on gain from the sale of our shares of common stock.
With respect to distributions that we designate as capital gain dividends and any retained capital gain that we are
deemed to distribute, we will designate whether such a distribution is taxable to U.S. holders taxed at individual rates
at a 20% or 25% rate. The highest marginal individual income tax rate currently is 39.6%. Thus, the tax rate
differential between capital gain and ordinary income for those taxpayers may be significant. In addition, the
characterization of income as capital gain or ordinary income may affect the deductibility of capital losses, including
capital losses recognized upon the disposition of our shares. A non-corporate taxpayer may deduct capital losses not
offset by capital gains against its ordinary income only up to a maximum annual amount of  $3,000. A non-corporate
taxpayer may carry forward unused capital losses indefinitely. A corporate taxpayer must pay tax on its net capital
gain at ordinary corporate rates. A corporate taxpayer may deduct capital losses only to the extent of capital gains,
with unused losses being carried back three years and forward five years.
Information Reporting Requirements and Withholding
We or the applicable withholding agent will report to U.S. holders and to the IRS the amount and the tax character of
distributions we pay during each calendar year, and the amount of tax we withhold, if any. Under the backup
withholding rules, a U.S. holder may be subject to backup withholding at a rate of 28% with respect to distributions
unless such holder:
•
is a corporation or comes within certain other exempt categories and, when required, demonstrates this fact; or
​
•
provides a taxpayer identification number, certifies as to no loss of exemption from backup withholding, and
otherwise complies with the applicable requirements of the backup withholding rules.
​
A U.S. holder who does not provide the applicable withholding agent with its correct taxpayer identification number
also may be subject to penalties imposed by the IRS. Any amount paid as backup withholding will be creditable
against the U.S. holder’s income tax liability. Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld
under the backup withholding rules may be refunded or credited against the U.S. holder’s U.S. federal income tax
liability if certain required information is timely furnished to the IRS. U.S. holders are urged to consult their own tax
advisors regarding application of backup withholding to them and the availability of, and procedure for obtaining an
exemption from, backup withholding. In addition, the applicable withholding agent may be required to withhold a
portion of distributions to any U.S. holders who fail to certify their U.S. status.
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Taxation of Non-U.S. Holders
The term “non-U.S. holder” means a beneficial owner of our shares of common stock that is not a U.S. holder or a
partnership (or an entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes). The rules
governing U.S. federal income taxation of nonresident alien individuals, foreign corporations, foreign partnerships and
other foreign holders are complex. This section is only a summary of such rules. We urge non-U.S. holders to consult
their tax advisors to determine the impact of U.S. federal, state and local income tax laws on ownership of our shares
of common stock, including any reporting requirements.
For most non-U.S. holders, investment in a REIT that invests principally in mortgage loans and MBS is not the most
tax-efficient way to invest in such assets. That is because receiving distributions of income derived from such assets in
the form of REIT dividends subjects most non-U.S. holders to withholding taxes that direct investment in those asset
classes, and the direct receipt of interest and principal payments with respect to them, would not.
A non-U.S. holder that receives a distribution from us that is not attributable to gain from our sale or exchange of 
“United States real property interests,” as defined below, and that we do not designate as a capital gain dividend or
retained capital gain will recognize ordinary income to the extent that we pay the distribution out of our current or
accumulated earnings and profits. A withholding tax equal to 30% of the gross amount of the distribution ordinarily
will apply unless an applicable tax treaty reduces or eliminates the tax. Reduced treaty rates are not available to the
extent that income is attributable to our excess inclusion income allocable to the non-U.S. holder. See “— Taxable
Mortgage Pools and Excess Inclusion Income.” If a distribution is treated as effectively connected with the non-U.S.
holder’s conduct of a U.S. trade or business, the distribution will not incur the 30% withholding tax, but the non-U.S.
holder generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the distribution at graduated rates, in the same manner
as U.S. holders are taxed on distributions and also may be subject to the 30% branch profits tax in the case of a
corporate non-U.S. holder. In general, non-U.S. holders will not be considered to be engaged in a U.S. trade or
business solely as a result of their ownership of our shares of common stock. It is expected that the applicable
withholding agent will withhold U.S. income tax at the rate of 30% on the gross amount of any distribution that we do
not designate as a capital gain distribution or retained capital gain and is paid to a non-U.S. holder unless either:
•
a lower treaty rate applies and the non-U.S. holder files with the applicable withholding agent an IRS Form W-8BEN
or IRS Form W-8BEN-E evidencing eligibility for that reduced rate, or
​
•
the non-U.S. holder files with the applicable withholding agent an IRS Form W-8ECI claiming that the distribution is
effectively connected income.
​
Capital gain dividends received or deemed received by a non-U.S. holder from us that are not attributable to gain from
our sale or exchange of  “United States real property interests,” as defined below, are generally not subject to U.S.
federal income or withholding tax, unless either (1) the non-U.S. holder’s investment in our shares of common stock is
effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business conducted by such non-U.S. holder (in which case the non-U.S.
holder will be subject to the same treatment as U.S. holders with respect to such gain) or (2) the non-U.S. holder is a
nonresident alien individual who was present in the U.S. for 183 days or more during the taxable year and has a “tax
home” in the U.S. (in which case the non-U.S. holder will be subject to a 30% tax on the individual’s net capital gain for
the year).
A non-U.S. holder will not incur tax on a distribution on the shares of common stock in excess of our current and
accumulated earnings and profits if the excess portion of the distribution does not exceed the adjusted tax basis of its
shares of common stock. Instead, the excess portion of the distribution will reduce such non-U.S. holder’s adjusted tax
basis of its shares of common stock. A non-U.S. holder will be subject to tax on a distribution that exceeds both our
current and accumulated earnings and profits and the adjusted basis of its shares of common stock, if the non-U.S.
holder otherwise would be subject to tax on gain from the sale or disposition of its shares of common stock, as
described below. Because we generally cannot determine at the time we make a distribution whether the distribution
will exceed our current and accumulated earnings and profits, it is expected that the applicable withholding agent
normally will
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withhold tax on the entire amount of any distribution at the same rate applicable to withholding on a dividend.
However, a non-U.S. holder may obtain a refund of amounts that the applicable withholding agent withheld if we later
determine that a distribution in fact exceeded our current and accumulated earnings and profits.
For any year in which we qualify as a REIT, a non-U.S. holder may incur tax on distributions that are attributable to
gain from our sale or exchange of  “United States real property interests” under special provisions of the U.S. federal
income tax laws known as “FIRPTA.” The term “United States real property interests” includes interests in real property
and shares in corporations at least 50% of whose assets consist of interests in real property. The term “United States
real property interests” generally does not include mortgage loans or MBS. Under the FIRPTA rules, a non-U.S. holder
is taxed on distributions attributable to gain from sales of United States real property interests as if the gain were
effectively connected with a U.S. business of the non-U.S. holder. A non-U.S. holder thus would be taxed on such a
distribution at the normal capital gain rates applicable to U.S. holders, subject to applicable alternative minimum tax
and a special alternative minimum tax in the case of a nonresident alien individual. A non-U.S. corporate holder not
entitled to treaty relief or exemption also may be subject to the 30% branch profits tax on such a distribution. Unless a
non-U.S. holder qualifies for the exception described in the next paragraph, or is a qualified shareholder or a qualified
foreign pension fund (both as defined below), the applicable withholding agent must withhold 35% of any such
distribution that we could designate as a capital gain dividend. A non-U.S. holder may receive a credit against such
holder’s tax liability for the amount withheld.
Capital gain distributions on our shares of common stock that are attributable to our sale of real property will be
treated as ordinary dividends, rather than as gain from the sale of a United States real property interest, if  (i) our shares
of common stock are “regularly traded” on an established securities market in the United States and (ii) the non-U.S.
holder does not own more than 10% of our shares of common stock during the one-year period preceding the
distribution date. As a result, non-U.S. holders generally would be subject to withholding tax on such capital gain
distributions in the same manner as they are subject to withholding tax on ordinary dividends. We believe that our
common stock is treated as being regularly traded on an established securities market in the United States. If our
common stock is not regularly traded on an established securities market in the United States or the non-U.S. holder
owned more than 10% of our common stock at any time during the one-year period prior to the distribution, capital
gain distributions that are attributable to our sale of real property would be subject to tax under FIRPTA. Moreover, if
a non-U.S. holder disposes of our common stock during the 30-day period preceding a dividend payment, and such
non-U.S. holder (or a person related to such non-U.S. holder) acquires or enters into a contract or option to acquire our
common stock within 61 days of the 1st day of the 30 day period described above, and any portion of such dividend
payment would, but for the disposition, be treated as a United States real property interest capital gain to such
non-U.S. holder, then such non-U.S. holder will be treated as having United States real property interest capital gain in
an amount that, but for the disposition, would have been treated as United States real property interest capital gain.
In addition, distributions to certain non-U.S. publicly traded shareholders that meet certain record-keeping and other
requirements (“qualified shareholders”) are exempt from FIRPTA, except to the extent owners of such qualified
shareholders that are not also qualified shareholders own, actually or constructively, more than 10% of our common
stock. Furthermore, distributions to “qualified foreign pension funds” or entities all of the interests of which are held by
“qualified foreign pension funds” are exempt from FIRPTA. Non-U.S. holders should consult their tax advisors
regarding the application of these rules.
A non-U.S. holder generally will not incur tax under FIRPTA with respect to gain realized upon a disposition of our
shares of common stock as long as we are not a United States real property holding corporation during a specified
testing period. If at least 50% of a REIT’s assets are United States real property interests, then the REIT will be a
United States real property holding corporation. We may be a United States real property holding corporation based
on our investment strategy. In that case, gains from the sale of our shares of common stock by a non-U.S. holder could
be subject to a FIRPTA tax. However, a non-U.S. holder generally would not incur tax under FIRPTA on gain from
the sale of our shares of common stock if we were a “domestically controlled qualified investment entity.” A
domestically controlled qualified investment entity includes a REIT in which, at all times during a specified testing
period, less than 50% in value of its shares are held directly or indirectly by non-U.S. persons.
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If our common stock is regularly traded on an established securities market, an additional exception to the tax under
FIRPTA will be available with respect to our common stock, even if we do not qualify as a domestically controlled
qualified investment entity at the time the non-U.S. holder sells our common stock. Under that exception, the gain
from such a sale by such a non-U.S. holder will not be subject to tax under FIRPTA if  (i) our common stock is treated
as being regularly traded under applicable Treasury Regulations on an established securities market and (ii) the
non-U.S. holder owned, actually or constructively, 10% or less of our common stock at all times during a specified
testing period. As noted above, believe that our common stock is treated as being regularly traded on an established
securities market in the United States. If the gain on the sale of our common stock were taxed under FIRPTA, a
non-U.S. holder would be taxed on that gain in the same manner as U.S. holders, subject to applicable alternative
minimum tax and a special alternative minimum tax in the case of nonresident alien individuals.
In addition, dispositions of our common stock by qualified shareholders are exempt from FIRPTA, except to the
extent owners of such qualified shareholders that are not also qualified shareholders own, actually or constructively,
more than 10% of our common stock. An actual or deemed disposition of our common stock by such shareholders
may also be treated as a dividend. Furthermore, dispositions of our capital stock by “qualified foreign pension funds” or
entities all of the interests of which are held by “qualified foreign pension funds” are exempt from FIRPTA. Non-U.S.
holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the application of these rules.
Backup withholding will generally not apply to payments of dividends made by us or our paying agents, in their
capacities as such, to a non-U.S. holder provided that the non-U.S. holder furnishes to the applicable withholding
agent the required certification as to its non-U.S. status, such as providing a valid IRS Form W-8BEN, W-8BEN-E or
W-8ECI, or certain other requirements are met. Notwithstanding the foregoing, backup withholding may apply if the
applicable withholding agent has actual knowledge, or reason to know, that the holder is a U.S. person that is not an
exempt recipient. Payments of the net proceeds from a disposition or a redemption effected outside the United States
by a non-U.S. holder made by or through a foreign office of a broker generally will not be subject to information
reporting or backup withholding. However, information reporting (but not backup withholding) generally will apply to
such a payment if the broker has certain connections with the U.S. unless the broker has documentary evidence in its
records that the beneficial owner is a non-U.S. holder and specified conditions are met or an exemption is otherwise
established. Payment of the net proceeds from a disposition by a non-U.S. holder of shares of common stock made by
or through the U.S. office of a broker is generally subject to information reporting and backup withholding unless the
non-U.S. holder certifies under penalties of perjury that it is not a U.S. person and satisfies certain other requirements,
or otherwise establishes an exemption from information reporting and backup withholding.
Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules may be
refunded or credited against the non-U.S. holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability if certain required information is
timely furnished to the IRS. Non-U.S. holders are urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding application of
backup withholding to them and the availability of, and procedure for obtaining an exemption from, backup
withholding.
Legislative or Other Actions Affecting REITs
The present U.S. federal income tax treatment of REITs may be modified, possibly with retroactive effect, by
legislative, judicial or administrative action at any time. The REIT rules are constantly under review by persons
involved in the legislative process and by the IRS and the U.S. Treasury Department, which may result in statutory
changes as well as revisions to regulations and interpretations. Additionally, several of the tax considerations
described herein are currently under review and are subject to change. Prospective stockholders are urged to consult
with their own tax advisors regarding the effect of potential changes to the U.S. federal tax laws on an investment in
our shares of common stock.
Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act
The Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (“FATCA”) imposes a 30% U.S. withholding tax on certain U.S. source
payments, including interest (and original issue discount), dividends, other fixed or determinable annual or periodical
gain, profits, and income, and on the gross proceeds from a disposition of
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property of a type which can produce U.S. source interest or dividends (“Withholdable Payments”), if paid to a foreign
financial institution (including amounts paid to a foreign financial institution on behalf of a stockholder), unless such
institution enters into an agreement with Treasury to collect and provide to Treasury certain information regarding
U.S. financial account holders, including certain account holders that are foreign entities with U.S. owners, with such
institution or otherwise complies with FATCA. FATCA also generally imposes a withholding tax of 30% on
Withholdable Payments made to a non-financial foreign entity unless such entity provides the withholding agent with
a certification that it does not have any substantial U.S. owners or a certification identifying the direct and indirect
substantial U.S. owners of the entity. Under certain circumstances, a stockholder may be eligible for refunds or credits
of such taxes.
These withholding and reporting requirements generally apply to U.S. source periodic payments and will apply to
payments of gross proceeds from a sale or redemption made after December 31, 2018. If we determine withholding is
appropriate with respect to a Withholdable Payment, we will withhold tax at the applicable statutory rate, and we will
not pay any additional amounts in respect of such withholding. Foreign financial institutions and non-financial foreign
entities located in jurisdictions that have an intergovernmental agreement with the United States governing FATCA
may be subject to different rules. Prospective investors are urged to consult with their own tax advisors regarding the
possible implications of FATCA on their investment in our common stock.
State, Local and Foreign Taxes
We and/or our subsidiaries and common stockholders may be subject to taxation by various states, localities or foreign
jurisdictions, including those in which we, our subsidiaries, or our common stockholders transact business, own
property or reside. We or our subsidiaries may own properties located in numerous jurisdictions and may be required
to file tax returns in some or all of those jurisdictions. The state, local and foreign tax treatment of us and our common
stockholders may differ from the U.S. federal income tax treatment of us and our common stockholders described
above. Consequently, common stockholders should consult their tax advisors regarding the application and effect of
state, local and foreign income and other tax laws upon an investment in our shares of common stock.
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LEGAL MATTERS
The validity of the common stock and certain other legal matters will be passed upon for us by Morrison & Foerster
LLP, New York, New York.
EXPERTS
The consolidated financial statements of Great Ajax Corp. as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and for the year ended
December 31, 2015 and for the period from January 30, 2014 (date of inception) through December 31, 2014,
included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K, have been incorporated by reference herein in reliance upon the report
of Moss Adams LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, incorporated by reference herein and upon the
authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION
We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and
copy any document we file with the SEC at the SEC’s public reference room at 100 F Street, N.E. Room 1580,
Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information about the public reference
room. The SEC also maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other
information regarding registrants that file electronically with the SEC at http://www.sec.gov. In addition, we maintain
a website that contains information about us at www.great-ajax.com. The information found on, or otherwise
accessible through, our website is not incorporated by reference into, and does not form a part of, this prospectus or
any accompanying prospectus supplement or any other report or document we file with or furnish to the SEC.
We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-3, of which this prospectus is a part, including
exhibits, schedules and amendments filed with, or incorporated by reference into, the registration statement, under the
Securities Act, with respect to the shares registered hereby. This prospectus and any accompanying prospectus
supplement do not contain all of the information set forth in the registration statement and exhibits and schedules to
the registration statement. For further information with respect to our company and the shares registered hereby,
reference is made to the registration statement, including the exhibits to the registration statement. Statements
contained in this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement as to the contents of any contract or other
document referred to in, or incorporated by reference into, this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus
supplement are not necessarily complete and, where such contract or other document is an exhibit to the registration
statement, each statement is qualified in all respects by the exhibit to which the reference relates. Copies of the
registration statement, including the exhibits and schedules to the registration statement, may be examined at the SEC’s
public reference room. Copies of all or a portion of the registration statement can be obtained from the public
reference room of the SEC upon payment of prescribed fees. The registration statement of which this prospectus is a
part is also available to you on the SEC’s website.
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INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE
The SEC allows us to “incorporate by reference” into this prospectus the information we file with the SEC, which means
that we can disclose important business, financial and other information to you by referring you to other documents
separately filed with the SEC. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this prospectus
from the date we file that document. Any reports filed by us with the SEC after the date of this prospectus and before
the date that the offering of the shares by means of this prospectus is terminated will automatically update and, where
applicable, supersede any information contained in this prospectus or incorporated by reference in this prospectus.
We incorporate by reference the following documents or information filed with the SEC:
•
our Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended December 31, 2015;
​
•
our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 1, 2016 (except with respect to item 7.01 therein);
​
•
our definitive proxy statement for our annual meeting of shareholders held on June 3, 2015; and
​
•
the description of our common stock contained in our Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed with the SEC on
February 10, 2015.
​
We are also incorporating by reference additional documents that we file with the SEC pursuant to Sections 13(a),
13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act: (i) after the date of the initial registration statement of which this prospectus is
a part and prior to effectiveness of the registration statement and (ii) after the date of this prospectus and prior to the
termination of the offering of the shares described in this prospectus. We are not, however, incorporating by reference
any documents or portions thereof, whether specifically listed above or filed in the future, that are not deemed “filed”
with the SEC, including any information furnished pursuant to Items 2.02 or 7.01 of Form 8-K or certain exhibits
furnished pursuant to Item 9.01 of Form 8-K.
We will provide copies of all documents incorporated into this prospectus by reference, without charge, upon oral
request to our Secretary at the number listed below or in writing by first class mail to the address listed below.
Irving Potter
Great Ajax Corp.
9400 SW Beaverton-Hillsdale Hwy, Suite 131
Beaverton, Oregon 97005
503-505-5670
49
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PART II
INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS
Item 14.   Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution.
The following table sets forth the expenses of the sale and distribution of the securities being registered pursuant to
this registration statement, all of which are being borne by the registrant. All amounts other than the SEC registration
fee have been estimated.
​SEC registration fee ​​​$ 17,660 ​​
​Printing expenses ​​​$ 61,000 ​​
​Legal fees and expenses ​​​$ 350,000 ​​
​Accounting fees and expenses ​​​$ 10,000 ​​
​Miscellaneous expenses ​​​$ 11,340 ​​
​Total ​​​$ 450,000 ​​
​
Item 15.   Indemnification of Directors and Officers.
Maryland law permits a Maryland corporation to include in its charter a provision limiting the liability of its directors
and officers to the corporation and its stockholders for money damages except for liability resulting from (a) actual
receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services or (b) active and deliberate dishonesty that is
established by a final judgment and is material to the cause of action. Our charter contains a provision which
eliminates our directors’ and officers’ liability to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law.
Maryland law requires a Maryland corporation (unless its charter provides otherwise, which our charter does not) to
indemnify a director or officer who has been successful in the defense of any proceeding to which he or she is made or
threatened to be made a party by reason of his or her service in that capacity. Maryland law permits a Maryland
corporation to indemnify its present and former directors and officers, among others, against judgments, penalties,
fines, settlements and reasonable expenses actually incurred by them in connection with any proceeding to which they
may be made or threatened to be made a party by reason of their service in those or other capacities unless it is
established that: (a) the act or omission of the director or officer was material to the matter giving rise to the
proceeding and (i) was committed in bad faith or (ii) was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty; (b) the director
or officer actually received an improper personal benefit in money, property or services; or (c) in the case of any
criminal proceeding, the director or officer had reasonable cause to believe that the act or omission was unlawful.
However, under Maryland law, a Maryland corporation may not indemnify for an adverse judgment in a suit by or in
the right of the corporation or for a judgment of liability on the basis that personal benefit was improperly received,
unless in either case a court orders indemnification and then only for expenses. In addition, Maryland law permits a
Maryland corporation to advance reasonable expenses to a director or officer upon the corporation’s receipt of  (a) a
written affirmation by the director or officer of his or her good faith belief that he or she has met the standard of
conduct necessary for indemnification by the corporation and (b) a written undertaking by him or her or on his or her
behalf to repay the amount paid or reimbursed by the corporation if it is ultimately determined that the standard of
conduct was not met.
Our charter authorizes us, to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law, to obligate ourselves and our bylaws
obligate us, to indemnify any present or former director or officer or any individual who, while a director or officer of
our company and at our request, serves or has served as a director, officer, partner, trustee, member or manager of
another corporation, real estate investment trust, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee
benefit plan or other enterprise and who is made or threatened to be made a party to the proceeding by reason of his or
her service in that capacity from and against any claim or liability to which that individual may become subject or
which that individual may incur by reason of his or her service in any of the foregoing capacities and to pay or
reimburse his or her
II-1
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reasonable expenses in advance of final disposition of a proceeding. Our charter and bylaws also permit us to
indemnify and advance expenses to any individual who served a predecessor of our company in any of the capacities
described above and any employees or agents of our company or a predecessor of our company.
We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our executive officers and directors whereby we
indemnify such executive officers and directors to the fullest extent permitted by Maryland law against all expenses
and liabilities, subject to limited exceptions. These indemnification agreements also provide that upon an application
for indemnity by an executive officer or director to a court of appropriate jurisdiction, such court may order us to
indemnify such executive officer or director.
In addition, our directors and officers are indemnified for specified liabilities and expenses pursuant to the limited
partnership agreement of our operating partnership.
Insofar as the foregoing provisions permit indemnification of directors, officer or persons controlling us for liability
arising under the Securities Act, we have been informed that in the opinion of the SEC this indemnification is against
public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable.
Item 16.   Exhibits.
See the Exhibit Index, which is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 17.   Undertakings.
(a)
The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:
​
(1)
To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration
statement:
​
(i)   To include any prospectus required by section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act;
(ii)   To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the
most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental
change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or
decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was
registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in
the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume
and price represent no more than 20 percent change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the
“Calculation of Registration Fee” table in the effective registration statement.
(iii)   To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the
registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement;
provided, however, that paragraphs (a)(l)(i), (a)(l)(ii) and (a)(l)(iii) of this section do not apply if the registration
statement is on Form S-3 or Form F-3 and the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by
those paragraphs is contained in reports filed with or furnished to the Commission by the registrant pursuant to section
13 or section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are incorporated by reference in the registration
statement, or is contained in a form of prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) that is part of the registration
statement.
(2)
That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each such post effective amendment shall
be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such
securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
​
(3)
To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which
remain unsold at the termination of the offering.
​
​
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(4)
That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act to any purchaser:
​
(A)
Each prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) shall be deemed to be part of the registration
statement as of the date the filed prospectus was deemed part of and included in the registration statement; and
​
(B)
Each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2), (b)(5), or (b)(7) as part of a registration statement in
reliance on Rule 430B relating to an offering made pursuant to Rule 415(a)(1)(i), (vii), or (x) for the purpose of
providing the information required by section 10(a) of the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of and included in
the registration statement as of the earlier of the date such form of prospectus is first used after effectiveness or the
date of the first contract of sale of securities in the offering described in the prospectus. As provided in Rule 430B, for
liability purposes of the issuer and any person that is at that date an underwriter, such date shall be deemed to be a
new effective date of the registration statement relating to the securities in the registration statement to which that
prospectus relates, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering
thereof. Provided, however, that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the
registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference into the registration
statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of contract of sale
prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or
prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such
effective date; or
​
(b)
The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act,
each filing of the registrant’s annual report pursuant to section 13(a) or section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan’s annual report pursuant to section 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be
a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time
shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
​
(c)
Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and
controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised
that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as
expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such
liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling
person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer
or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its
counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question
whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final
adjudication of such issue.
​
​
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, the registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that
it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form S-3 and has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Beaverton, Oregon on April 12, 2016.
​GREAT AJAX CORP. ​
​By: ​​/s/ Lawrence Mendelsohn ​
​​ ​​Lawrence Mendelsohn ​
​​ ​​Chairman and Chief Executive Officer ​
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act this amendment to the registration statement has been signed by the
following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
​Name ​​Capacity ​​Date ​

​
/s/ Lawrence Mendelsohn
​
Lawrence Mendelsohn

​​Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) ​​April 12,2016 ​

​
/s/ Glenn J. Ohl
​
Glenn J. Ohl

​​Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer and principalaccounting officer) ​​April 12,2016 ​

​
*
​
Steven L. Begleiter

​​Director ​​

​
*
​
John C. Condas

​​Director ​​

​

*
​
Jonathan Bradford
Handley, Jr.

​​Director ​​

​
*
​
Daniel Hoffman

​​Director ​​

​
*
​
J. Kirk Ogren, Jr.

​​Director ​​

​
/s/ Russell Schaub
​
Russell Schaub

​​President and Director ​​April 12,2016 ​

​* By: ​​/s/ Lawrence Mendelsohn ​
​​ ​​Lawrence Mendelsohn as ​
​​ ​​Attorney-in-Fact ​
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Exhibit
No. ​​Description ​

3.1 ​​Articles of Amendment and Restatement; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’sregistration statement on Form S-11 (No. 333-201369). ​

3.2 ​​Amended and Restated Bylaws; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the registrant’s registrationstatement on Form S-11 (No. 333-201369). ​

5.1* ​​Opinion of Morrison & Foerster LLP. ​
8.1 ​​Opinion of Morrison & Foerster LLP as to tax matters. ​

10.1 ​​Agreement of Limited Partnership of Great Ajax Operating Partnership LP; incorporated by reference toExhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s registration statement on Form S-11 (No. 333-201369). ​

10.2 ​​
Amended and Restated Management Agreement dated as of October 27, 2015, among the registrant,
Great Ajax Operating Partnership LP and Thetis Asset Management LLC; incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on November 2, 2015.

​

10.3 ​​
Servicing Agreement dated as of July 8, 2014 by and among Gregory Funding LLC and the registrant and
its affiliates Great Ajax Operating Partnership LP and Little Ajax II LLC; incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s registration statement on Form S-11 (No. 333-201369).

​

10.4 ​​
Form of Indemnification Agreement between registrant and each of its directors and officers;
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s registration statement on Form S-11 (No.
333-201369).

​

10.5 ​​
Assignment Agreement made as of July 8, 2014, by and between the entities identified on Exhibit A
thereto and the registrant with respect to Little Ajax II LLC; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to
the registrant’s registration statement on Form S-11 (No. 333-201369).

​

10.6 ​​2014 Director Equity Plan; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the registrant’s registrationstatement on Form S-11 (No. 333-201369). ​

10.7 ​​Form of Restricted Stock Award; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the registrant’s registrationstatement on Form S-11 (No. 333-201369). ​

10.8 ​​

Registration Rights Agreement made and entered into as of July 8, 2014, by and among the registrant and
FBR Capital Markets & Co., as the initial purchaser/placement agent (“FBR”) for the benefit of FBR and
certain purchasers of the registrant’s common stock; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the
registrant’s registration statement on Form S-11 (No. 333-201369).

​

10.9 ​​
Trademark License Agreement dated as of July 8, 2014 between the registrant and Aspen Yo LLC;
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the registrant’s registration statement on Form S-11 (No.
333-201369).

​

10.10 ​​
Registration Rights Agreement made and entered into as of December 16, 2014, by and among the
registrant and certain purchasers of the registrant’s common stock; incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.10 to the registrant’s registration statement on Form S-11 (No. 333-201369).

​

10.11 ​​
Employment Agreement with Mary Doyle, Great Ajax Corp. Chief Financial Officer, dated March 29,
2016; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed
with the SEC on March 29, 2016.

​

21.1 ​​List of subsidiaries; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015. ​

23.1 ​​Consent of Moss Adams LLP. ​
23.2* ​​Consent of Morrison & Foerster LLP (included in Exhibit 5.1). ​
23.3 ​​Consent of Morrison & Foerster LLP (included in Exhibit 8.1). ​
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24.1* ​​Power of Attorney (included on the signature page to the S-11 Registration Statement). ​
24.2* ​​Power of Attorney of Mr. Ogren. ​
​
*
Previously filed.
​
​
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